

September 2023

# Economic Crime and Illicit Finance in Russia's Occupation Regime in Ukraine

David Lewis<sup>1</sup>

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank members of our research team, including Yerzhen Kanayev and Zhanat Myrzabekov, for their invaluable research assistance, and Dr Tena Prelec for expert advice and support. Many thanks are due to colleagues at the Russia Program at George Washington University for their invaluable research and insights. I would particularly like to thank experts at COSA (Kyiv) for their contributions to the research. Many thanks are also due to peer reviewers for feedback and advice, including Professor Graeme Herd, Olivia Allison, Professor Heather Marquette, and an anonymous reviewer based in Ukraine. Some early findings from this report were presented in London in March 2023 and the draft benefited from useful feedback from discussants and the audience.

#### **Suggested citation**

Lewis, D. (2023). *Economic Crime and Illicit Finance in Russia's Occupation Regime in Ukraine.* SOC ACE Research Paper No 20. University of Birmingham.

#### About the authors

**David Lewis** is Professor of Global Politics at the University of Exeter and a Senior Associate Fellow at the Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), London. In 2019-22 he was seconded as a Research Fellow to the Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO). He has wide-ranging research interests in Russian and Eurasian politics and international relations. His most recent monograph is *Russia's New Authoritarianism: Putin and the Politics of Order* (Edinburgh University Press, 2020).

#### **About SOC ACE**

The Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence (SOC ACE) research programme aims to help 'unlock the black box of political will' for tackling serious organised crime, illicit finance and transnational corruption through research that informs politically feasible, technically sound interventions and strategies. Funded by the UK's Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO), SOC ACE is a new component in the Anti-Corruption Evidence (ACE) research programme, alongside Global Integrity ACE and SOAS ACE. SOC ACE is managed by the University of Birmingham, working in collaboration with a number of leading research organisations and through consultation and engagement with key stakeholders.

SOC ACE is funded by the UK Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office. The views expressed here do not necessarily reflect the UK Government's official policies.

© Crown Copyright 2023.

#### Find out more

www.socace-research.org.uk



Follow us on Twitter: @SOCACE research



Follow us on LinkedIn: <a href="https://www.linkedin.com/company/socace-research">www.linkedin.com/company/socace-research</a>

SOC ACE | University of Birmingham | Birmingham | B15 2TT | United Kingdom



# **Contents**

Acronyms and abbreviations		4
Sun	nmary	5
1.	Introduction	6
2.	The occupation regime	9
3.	Spoliation, plunder, appropriation	15
	3.1. Agriculture	21
	3.2. Telecoms	23
	3.3. Banking	24
4.	Reconstruction	27
	4.1. Reconstructing Mariupol	27
	4.2. Other construction projects	30
<b>5.</b>	Conclusion	32
References		34

# Acronyms and abbreviations

**ACF** Anti-Corruption Foundation

**CMR Bank** Centre for International Settlements Bank

**DNR** 'Donetsk People's Republic'

**EGRYuL** Edinnyi gosudarstvennyi reestr yuridicheskikh lits [Single State Register

of Legal Entities]

**EZSS** Edinnyi zakazschik v sfere stroitelstva [Single Contractor in the

Construction Sphere

**FSB** Federal Security Service

ICC International Criminal Court

LNR 'Lugansk People's Republic'

MRB International Settlement Bank (Mezhdunarodnyi raschetnyi bank)

**PSB** Promsvyazbank

**SIP** Special Infrastructure Project

**VGA** Military-Civilian Administration

**VSK** Voenno-stroitelnaya Kompaniya [Military Construction Company]

# **Summary**

Despite Ukraine's ongoing counter-offensive, in September 2023 Russia still controlled around 17% of Ukrainian territory, an area roughly the size of Denmark. Russia's occupation of these Ukrainian territories relied primarily on repression and violence, but economic levers also played an important role in consolidating Russian rule. This paper details Russia's illicit economic activity in the occupied territories and calls for more international attention to this aspect of Russia's invasion.

Since Russia occupied large parts of south-eastern Ukraine in March 2022, it has worked rapidly to incorporate these regions into Russia's economic and financial system. Key elements in this 'economic occupation' include:

- The seizure of many Ukrainian businesses and assets. The occupation authorities 'nationalised' many companies and reregistered them as Russian businesses with new management.
- The imposition of the Russian currency, financial and tax system, and the forced closure of Ukrainian banks.
- The forcible takeover of farms or pressure on farmers to cooperate with the
  occupation authorities. Russian officials oversaw the illegal export of Ukrainian grain
  from the occupied territories.
- The reconstruction of cities such as Mariupol, the city destroyed by Russian forces in spring 2022, in a multi-billion-dollar government programme that is profiting wellconnected Russian companies.

These acts were all illegal under Ukrainian law and some may constitute potential war crimes under international law.

There should be more attention paid to these economic crimes internationally – with clear warnings for Russian business about the consequences under international law of seizing Ukrainian businesses and assets. Although international sanctions have targeted many officials in the Russian occupation structures, the approach should be more coordinated and systematic to raise the costs of Russian occupation.

More international attention now would also assist in eventual reintegration and reconstruction of these regions. For example, a database of business seizures and economic crimes in the occupied territories would help to resolve legal issues and ensure business restitution in the aftermath of the war, while also serving as a potential basis for sanctions and eventual prosecutions.

The economic aspects of occupation also raise complex questions of transitional justice for those who lived under Russian occupation. Ukrainian society is discussing how to define and respond to acts of collaboration in the occupied territories. International experience could help to inform legal and political solutions that meet the needs of justice but also seek to unite post-war Ukrainian society.

# 1. Introduction

Despite several successful Ukrainian counter-offensives, in September 2023 Russia still controlled around 17% of Ukrainian territory – around 40,000 sq. miles in the south and east of the country, an area roughly the size of Denmark. This included Crimea, which Russia annexed in 2014, and parts of Donbas that had formed the so-called 'Donetsk People's Republic (DNR)' and 'Lugansk People's Republic (LNR)' prior to February 2022.¹ After it invaded Ukraine in February 2022, Russia also gained control of parts of Zaporizhia oblast and Kherson oblast. The city of Mariupol in Donetsk oblast fell to Russian forces in May 2022 after a long and brutal siege, in which as many as 25,000 civilians may have died (AP, 2022).

Russia subsequently claimed to have formally incorporated Kherson oblast, Zaporizhia oblast, the 'Donetsk People's Republic' and the 'Lugansk People's Republic' into the Russian Federation on 4 October 2022. No other country except Syria and North Korea recognised this annexation, which was an egregious violation of international law. Russia did not occupy any of these four provinces fully, but Russian forces controlled some of Ukraine's most strategic geography, including the coastline of the Sea of Azov and a land corridor to Crimea.

Many people fled Russian-occupied territory to government-controlled Ukrainian territory or to Europe. Others travelled to Russia as the only option to escape the fighting. By 2023 it became almost impossible to travel from Russian-occupied territories to government-controlled territories directly, but residents continued to take a long, circuitous route to Ukraine or Europe via Russia.<sup>2</sup> It is not clear how many people remained in these territories by mid-2023, but almost certainly fewer than half of the pre-war population.<sup>3</sup> A few people began to trickle back to their home towns during 2023, but most residents continued to wait in exile for their homes to be liberated. Russian figures suggested that around 4.6 million people lived in the four occupied territories (including the DNR and LNR) in May 2023 (Kremlin.ru, 2023b).

Only a very small proportion of the population actively supported the Russian invasion. The referenda held in September 2022 on joining the Russian Federation were falsified on a grand scale. Even back in 2014, in Zaporizhia oblast only 13% of the population

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The terms DNR and LNR are used in this report only to refer to the de facto statelets and the regimes that controlled them. They do not imply any recognition or legitimacy. This report refers to all the territories of Ukraine, in its 1991 borders, which are occupied by Russia, as 'occupied territories'. Ukrainian sources normally refer to these territories as 'Temporarily Occupied Territories' (ToTs).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 2023 there were regular adverts for bus trips from Russian-occupied Melitopol and other occupied areas to Warsaw via Crimea and Russia – the route was well established for those with money for the trip. According to one Ukrainian official, such trips cost around \$500 (Yankovskii & Badyuk, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Figures were disputed. In Mariupol, for example, the Russian authorities claimed that some 200,000 of the pre-war population of over 450,000 remained in the city, but Ukrainian sources suggested that only around 100,000 residents were left after Russian troops occupied the city (Romanova, 2022). Other Ukrainian sources suggested that the pre-war population was even larger, boosted by unregistered refugees from Russian-controlled territory (Mikhailov, 2023). By March 2023 there were some 150,000 residents in the city, according to Mariupol mayor Vadim Boychenko, with another 150,000 across other Ukrainian regions and 120,000 outside the country (De Vega, 2023).

agreed that their region was 'part of the Russian World', while in Kherson oblast only 11% agreed with this claim, despite the presence of significant ethnic Russian communities in each region and widespread use of the Russian language (O'Loughlin et al., 2017). Opinion polls showed that even this kind of cultural identification with Russia seldom translated into support for joining Russia. However, a small minority was willing to work with the Russian authorities. A much larger group simply sought ways to survive under the occupation regime. Living under occupation inevitably involved uncomfortable compromises and acts that could be labelled collaboration.

Facing largely hostile societies, Russian security forces selectively targeted the population with intimidation and violence, particularly individuals who had connections to the Ukrainian military, journalists and activists, and anybody who openly opposed Russian rule. The Russian FSB established a 'filtration' process to identify and detain individuals viewed as a threat to Russian occupation (Wille, 2022). Russian soldiers used intrusive body searches and long interrogations during filtration to try to identify anybody with links to the Ukrainian military or any other signs of anti-Russian activism. People caught during filtration were liable to long periods of detention in inhumane prisons and often tortured. Wherever Russian forces retreated, investigators uncovered evidence of killings and torture. Those who escaped from detention told journalists and investigators how Russian forces detained and tortured them in a network of makeshift detention centres (HRW, 2023; Koshiw, 2023). Reports alleged that Russia established at least 20 detention sites in the occupied territories in which Ukrainian officials and activists were held (Bloomberg, 2023). Many other civilians were taken to prisons in Crimea or in Russia, where thousands were held without charge and often without any contact with the outside world (Yapparova, 2023).

This system of violence and repression was used to allow the authorities and businesspeople to commit the economic crimes that accompanied the occupation. Threats of violence or kidnapping were used as ways to force locals to give up businesses, to pay bribes and informal taxes, or to pressure them into working for the occupying power. Even the system of repression and detention was itself monetised: there were reports of Russian soldiers demanding payments to release prisoners (HRW, 2023). There were no independent media or human right defenders able to hold the authorities to account in the occupied territory, and Ukrainian citizens had no opportunity of challenging the occupation authorities through the courts.

#### **Box 1: Methodology: Researching occupation.**

This paper provides initial findings in response to an important research question: how Russia has used illicit finance, corruption and economic crime to support its invasion of Ukraine and consolidate its illegal occupation of Ukrainian territory. Inevitably, many aspects of the occupation are unknown to researchers or impossible to corroborate, since there are no independent media or civil society organisations operating in the occupied territories. The paper draws on a wide range of open-source materials, including an extensive survey of existing media reporting, primarily from Russian and Ukrainian sources. To augment media reporting, the paper also used social media channels, particularly the wide variety of channels in the Telegram platform and self-produced videos in YouTube, which provide insights into economic activities in the occupied territories, but also suffer from an obvious range of biases and constraints. The paper also relies on corporate records from the Russian Federal Tax Service's 'Single State Register of Legal Entities' (EGRYuL), and other corporate databases, which provide data on Russian companies. These databases often provide evidence of ownership changes during the occupation and the illegal reregistration of Ukrainian companies in the Russian regulatory system. We also used satellite imagery to track selected construction projects within the occupied territories. The constraints on research on this topic will require further innovation in methodology. We are testing these and other methods for proof of concept and plan to develop this methodology at larger scale during a further phase of research.

# 2. The occupation regime

Initially, Russia's governance in the occupied territories was ad hoc and often chaotic. Once the military and the FSB had secured the territories, the Russian authorities disbanded Ukrainian government structures and established Military-Civilian Administrations (VGA), largely reliant on the Russian military and security forces, but fronted by local co-opted politicians. After Russia claimed to incorporate the territories into the Russian Federation in October 2022, Moscow began to introduce political structures that reproduced local government institutions in the rest of Russia, with regional governors appointed in each province and local elections held in September 2023. Yet there was little disguising where real power lay: with the military commandant in each town and region, and with the FSB, which played a leading role in governing the territories. Immediately after the annexation of the territories, Moscow began forming regional and local police and security structures on the Russian model (RIA Novosti, 2022e).

Sergei Kiriyenko, first deputy head of the presidential administration, took responsibility for political oversight of the territories in April 2022 and sought to promote younger Russian technocrats to run local governments. Typical of these figures was Anton Koltsov, an alumnus of the elite Presidential Academy of National Economy and Public Administration (RANEPA) and formerly deputy head of the Vologda region, who was appointed as head of government in Zaporizhia oblast. Vitaly Khotsenko, a 37-year-old official who served as head of government in DNR until he was appointed governor of Omsk in March 2023, also fitted this profile. His promotion suggested that spending time in the occupied territories could be a career boost for some ambitious officials.

The economic development of the occupied territories – including an ambitious reconstruction campaign – was largely the preserve of Russian government agencies, overseen by Deputy Prime Minister for Construction and Regional Development Marat Khusnullin. It was Khusnullin who accompanied Putin on a visit to Mariupol in March 2023. And it was Khusnullin who made the main presentation to the Security Council in April 2023, when that body convened to discuss the integration of the occupied regions into Russia (Kremlin.ru, 2023a). Khusnullin headed a working group of different agencies and government bodies – including law enforcement and the FSB – that worked on different aspects of the occupation. He also led on the government's development plan (2023-25) for the new regions, which Khusnullin described as the biggest regional development programme in Russia's modern history (Kremlin.ru, 2023b).

Russia parachuted in many key officials from Russia because many local officials refused to work with the Russians even under threat of torture or kidnap. Nevertheless, a minority did collaborate and gave Russia's occupation regime a local facade. Of 112 officials across the four regions profiled in a project by Proekt media in 2022, 59 were locals (Reznikova 2022; Proekt 2022). According to one report, five out of nine local city councillors in Kherson cooperated with the Russians. In other institutions, junior staff were promoted to take on leadership roles: war and occupation offered a social lift as

experienced and senior staff left the region or were forced out of their positions in favour of pliant proxies (Miller & Schmidt, 2022).

The four most important local leaders – Denis Pushilin, Leonid Pasechnik, Yevgeny Balitsky [Yevhen Balytskyi] and Vladimir Saldo [Volodymyr Saldo] – joined President Putin in Moscow when the annexation of their regions by Russia was announced on 30 September 2022. In each case, Moscow installed a Russian official as a head of government – in control of much of the day-to-day running of the provinces – while these local figures became acting governors, acting as the public face of the administration.

#### Box 2: Heads of occupied territories and other officials, September 20234

#### Kherson oblast

Governor Vladimir Saldo

Head of Government Andrei Alekseenko

Head of Administration of Kherson city Aleksandr Kobets

Senators<sup>5</sup> Igor Kastyukevich; Konstantin Basyuk

Zaporizhia oblast

Governor Yevgeny Balitsky

Head of Government Anton Koltsov

Head of Administration of Melitopol Galina Danilchenko

Senators Dmitrii Vorona; Dmitrii Rogozin

'Donetsk People's Republic'

Head Denis Pushilin

Head of Government Yevgeny Solntsev

Senators Natalia Nikonorova; Aleksandr Voloshin

'Luhansk People's Republic'

Head Leonid Pasechnik

Head of Government: Sergei Kozlov

Senators Olga Bas; Darya Lantratova

Although lacking any real autonomy, some of these figures did have local influence, particularly in business. Denis Pushilin, who had taken over control of the DNR in 2018 after his predecessor was blown up in a bomb attack, had strong connections with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Names in English are given to reflect the form that the individual uses on official websites or social media pages. In the case of Ukrainian citizens who use a Russified version of their name, the Ukrainian version is provided in brackets at the first mention where it differs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Senators are members of the Russian Council of the Federation, appointed following sham elections in the occupied territories in September 2023.

security and business figures in Moscow. In the LNR, the incumbent Leonid Pasechnik, who was confirmed as 'head' of the LNR in September 2023, was a former security officer who was reputed to have strong ties to the security services in Moscow.

In Zaporizhia the Russians promoted Yevgeny Balitsky, a local businessman and politician, first as head of the VGA and then as head of the occupied region. Balitsky was a small-town businessman and politician, who ran a beer factory and radio station in the 1990s, then took over a tractor parts factory, Avtogidroagregat, and entered politics as part of the Opposition Bloc (Kommersant, 2022b). His former employee Galina Danilchenko [Halyna Danylchenko] took over as mayor of Melitopol after Russian forces kidnapped the real mayor, Ivan Fyodorov, in March 2022. In many cases, Russian forces kidnapped, threatened, or detained local officials and replaced them with former political rivals. Those who chose to collaborate with the Russians were usually disaffected local businesspeople or officials, who saw the Russian occupation as a last chance to win back political and economic power after several years in the wilderness after the 'Maidan' revolution of 2014.

In Kherson oblast another controversial local figure, Vladimir Saldo, was appointed as head of Kherson oblast. Saldo had been mayor of Kherson in 2002-12 and then a deputy in the Verkhovna Rada from the Party of Regions, the party of former president Viktor Yanukovych that dominated eastern Ukraine. Saldo ran again for mayor in 2020 but lost the election. In March 2022, after Russian forces seized Kherson, Saldo and his ally Sergey Cherevko helped to set up a 'Salvation Committee for Peace and Order' to support the occupation. Cherevko was later appointed deputy head of the Russian-imposed regional government of Kherson oblast. Saldo had extensive business interests, as did his ally Vitaly Bulyuk, according to media reports. Bulyuk was a former head of the local customs office and was appointed first deputy head of the regional government in May 2022, with responsibility for finance and economics (Proekt 2022). Bulyuk survived an assassination attempt when his car was blown up in December 2022. Several other Saldo allies from his former political party ('Volodymyr Saldo Bloc') also had posts in the occupation authorities.

The local politics were often chaotic. There was a bewildering array of business interests, criminal groups, private military companies and 'volunteer' battalions, many of which mixed ideology, warfare and business seamlessly. Long-standing local feuds were revived. Criminal gangs attempted to exploit the situation, while a string of second-tier businesspeople turned up hoping to make quick money from the war. All these different actors worked within a wider military and political strategy developed by the Russian Presidential Administration, the FSB and the Ministry of Defence, but many Russian institutions were deeply divided and fought turf battles behind the scenes.

#### **Corruption and criminality**

This ad hoc governance in which there was no rule of law or accountability inevitably led to high levels of corruption and organised criminal activity. The DNR/LNR structures had been riddled with crime and corruption long before 2022. Much of the business in the separatist regions was conducted through semi-criminal or illicit channels (Arutunyan & Galeotti, 2022). After the 2022 invasion, the level of criminality does not seem to have abated. A policeman in the DNR told the BBC in 2023 that 'economic

crimes were at a high level', with corruption extensive in customs services; he alleged that the Russian military was also involved in criminal activity (Gerasimenko, 2023).

Finding competent officials and workers willing to work in the occupied territories was not easy. Few Russians showed any ideological inclination to travel to the occupied territories. The interior ministry claimed that the occupied territories required as many as 42,000 police, but the only ones willing to go and work in the region were those with some kind of disciplinary problems at home (Gerasimenko, 2023). Some other officials who were deployed from Russia to the occupied territories also appear to have been escaping corruption investigations or other criminal charges.

A few cases of alleged corruption that did surface in the media were probably the result of internal disputes rather than any crackdown on corruption. Ekaterina Gubareva, wife of a famous 'Novorossiya' activist Pavel Gubarev and deputy head of the new Kherson administration was reported to have been placed under house arrest in November while she was investigated on potential charges of embezzlement from the budget (Kommersant, 2022c). She denied that there were any charges against her. She was subsequently released, but left her post in December (Andreeva, 2022).

Even President Putin admitted in April 2023 that 'purely criminal elements, including organised crime, drug-traffickers, financial fraudsters and so forth, are attempting to take advantage of the current situation in DNR, LNR, Zaporizhia and Kherson oblasts' (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). Putin went on to argue – without any sense of irony – that Russian law enforcement and security forces 'should do everything to guarantee the secure life of the local population, to defend people [..] and their property from crime, lawlessness and violence, including providing support to local entrepreneurs' (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). Putin noted a rise in serious crimes in the regions, including 'attempts to seize other people's property' and called for 'special attention to illegal trafficking of drugs, arms, ammunition and explosives' (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). This rise in crime was the inevitable result of Russian aggression, and the Russian military and security forces were deeply implicated in a raft of economic crimes against property and in new smuggling rackets.

#### **Funding**

The Russian government pumped huge sums of money into the occupied territories. Such a high level of spending implemented with almost no transparency was bound to be accompanied by corruption and profiteering. In June 2022 Russian officials said that Russia's overall investments in the territories would reach around two trillion roubles (US\$20 billion) over two years (Kommersant, 2022a). But the exact sums were secret. The federal budget agreed in September 2022 for 2023-25 included funding for a 'special infrastructure project' (SIP), which journalists suggested was the term used inside the government for a fund for the reconstruction of the occupied territories (RBK, 2022, May 27). The amount of spending in the budget for the SIP amounted to some 97 billion roubles in 2023, 139.4 billion roubles in 2024, and 140.7 billion roubles in 2025 – although it is not clear how much of this was for exclusive use in the occupied territories (Ageeva, 2022).

The funding through the SIP was only a small part of overall spending. It did not include expenditure on the military or the security services. Other funding also began to flow

into the occupied territories in different sectors, including support for farming and industry. The government also planned to introduce a special economic zone in the occupied territories that would cut taxes for new investments (State Duma, 2023). There was also a growing welfare bill. Initially, Russian authorities provided a one-off payment of 10,000 roubles to residents. The Ministry of Emergency Situations transported the money in cash into the occupied territories and distributed it to locals as part of a wider policy that sought to win some support in the population (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). As the occupation became more established, the authorities made payments to local pensioners and some families of 10,000 roubles per month. These were available to most eligible residents, with or without a Russian passport. Pensioners were also given a monthly aid package of basic foodstuffs. For poorer parts of the population, this was the minimum needed to survive, as prices of many goods rose and many people struggled to access their Ukrainian pensions and bank accounts.

From 1 March 2023, residents in the occupied territories could apply for Russian pensions and welfare payments (child benefit, invalidity payments, and so forth) on the same level as in Russia itself (Sotsfond 2023). These were often more generous than Ukrainian payments. The catch was that Russian pensions and child benefit payments required residents to have a Russian passport, part of a much wider campaign that used both threats and promises to persuade people to apply for Russian citizenship. According to Russian figures, some 1.5 million people had received Russian passports in the occupied territories between October 2022 and May 2023 (Tikhonov & Gavrilyuk, 2023).

By April 2023, according to Russian sources, almost 400,000 people had received the monthly payments of 10,000 roubles, while 1.6 million were receiving pension payments (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). Russian propaganda made much of these welfare payments. Deputy Prime Minister Khusnullin argued that the figures showed that Ukrainian attempts to warn that people 'should not take money from Russia', had been thwarted (Kremlin.ru, 2023b). In reality, many people had little choice but to accept Russian welfare payments – they had no other source of income in the region's devastated economy.

The Russian authorities often used humanitarian aid for propaganda purposes. Russian television broadcast footage of people accepting humanitarian aid. Those who tried to break the Russian monopoly on aid were treated harshly. In Melitopol in April 2022 a food store owner was detained by the Russians after he distributed free food; six weeks later he remained missing (Yaffa, 2022). Many Russian official organisations, such as the United Russia party, were also involved in humanitarian aid. Humanitarian aid has always been highly vulnerable to corruption in Russia; there were no international organisations involved in humanitarian aid in the regions and no independent media or civil society organisations to check on how it was distributed.

Not all the funding came from the federal budget. Russian regions were also required to contribute. In May 2022 Kiriyenko announced that regions would 'adopt' towns and districts across the occupied territories (a practice called 'shefstvo') (Tenisheva, 2022). The idea was partly to shift the costs of reconstruction away from the federal budget, but also to mobilise local and regional support for the war – to bring in more and more of the Russian political and business elite. Moscow took on Donetsk and Luhansk, St

Petersburg 'adopted' Mariupol, while Khabarovsk region was partnered with Debaltsevo (Pertsev, 2022). By April 2023 at least 56 regions were providing assistance to the occupied regions (Kremlin.ru, 2023b).

How much the regions were spending, from what sources and with what accountability, proved difficult to discover. Some regions were digging into their reserve funds while others expected to get sponsorship from local businesses, using the informal off-the-books budgets that all regions maintained (*chernaya kassa*) (RBK, 2022, June 29). St Petersburg – twinned with Mariupol – was one of the most active. St Petersburg governor Alexander Beglov promised to reconstruct the Mariupol theatre, which a Russian attack had destroyed in March, killing hundreds of civilians who had taken shelter inside (Meduza, 2022b). The city found money in its reserve budget and then channelled the funds through the 'Pobeda [Victory] Foundation', which has no public accounts or accountability, raising concerns among opposition politicians about how these funds were being spent (Tubridy, 2022).

# 3. Spoliation, plunder, appropriation

In the newly occupied territories, the Russian state, the military, local pro-Russian politicians, militias, and Russian business all engaged in a mass campaign to steal Ukrainian property and businesses. The authorities redistributed many seized companies and assets to Russian and local businesses with close ties to the occupation authorities.

While many businesspeople fled the region, a minority remained with the hope of maintaining control of their assets and keeping their companies running. Local officials claimed that around 30% of Ukrainian entrepreneurs had remained in Mariupol and continued running their businesses (Talanova et al., 2023). They faced a huge range of challenges. In the first few months of the occupation, many were forced to pay informal 'taxes' – as much as 20% of turnover, according to reports, delivered in cash to the local military authority (LIGA, 2022). In other cases, armed men turned up at the gates of enterprises either to simply steal equipment or produce, or to take over the company illegally. Russian soldiers often looted stock and equipment.

In September 2022, Russian customs records showed that almost US\$2 million worth of metal was taken from the Azovstal plant in Mariupol to Russia and a further some 400 tons of steel from the MMK Ilych plant, worth some US\$380,000 (Davlyatchin, 2023). Thousands of tons of coal were also exported, including from the Ilych plant (Davlyatchin, 2023). The real scale of these seizures was probably much larger. Metinvest, the huge metals concern that owned many of the biggest plants in the Donbas, claimed that Russia had stolen as much as \$600 million worth of steel and other products during the war (BBC News, 2022).

Ukrainian business had already experienced different forms of Russian occupation after 2014, in Crimea and in parts of Donbas. After 2014, major enterprises initially carried on functioning in the DNR/LNR – including those owned by Rinat Akhmetov, Ukraine's richest billionaire and the biggest business owner in the east. After the Kyiv government imposed an economic blockade on the territories in 2017, the DNR authorities 'nationalised' many of Akhmetov's enterprises and rerouted the DNR/LNR's exports – mainly coal and metals – to Russia, and then onwards to Turkey and Europe. The DNR leadership set up a holding company, Vneshtorgservis, which took control of over 40 major enterprises – primarily in coal and metals – and a payment mechanism via South Ossetia to avoid sanctions (Arutunyan, 2022, pp. 213-214; Skorkin, 2021). In 2021 this scheme was wound up and seven of the region's big metal factories were amalgamated into a single holding company, the Southern Mining and Metallurgical Complex (YuGMK) (Boiko, 2022). Analysts interpreted the move as another step in asserting Moscow's control over the statelets, 'moving on from the wild days of economic piracy to more orderly exploitation schemes' (Skorkin, 2022).

In Crimea, there was a different process, which served as the model for the policies followed in the newly occupied territories in 2022. The Crimean 'State Council' issued a

decree on 30 April 2014 which nationalised property belonging to the Ukrainian state, any 'ownerless' property, and any other property that the Crimean authorities considered appropriate for nationalisation ('Supreme Council', 2014). Many of these nationalised enterprises were later sold – often at knock-down prices – to Putin's cronies (iStories, 2023). In February 2023, the authorities announced a further expropriation of some 700 assets belonging to Ukrainian businesses (RIA Novosti, 2023d). The Crimean authorities claimed that they would not seize the property of ordinary Ukrainians but only those who 'were responsible for crimes against the Russian army and peaceful population', highly arbitrary criteria that allowed the authorities to seize any business whose owners were deemed insufficiently loyal (RIA Novosti, 2023b).

In March 2023 the Russian-appointed head of Crimea Sergei Aksenov called for a similar process of nationalisation in the newly occupied regions (RIA Novosti, 2023e). On 15 May 2022 the 'defence committee' of the DNR resolved to nationalize Ukrainian banks on newly occupied territories of Donbas (RIA Novosti, 2023e). On 27 May 2022 DNR head Denis Pushilin announced that any companies belonging to Ukrainian or international owners who had sponsored 'nationalist battalions' would be nationalized, arguing that any direct funding of these 'battalions' was equivalent to 'the direct participation in the genocide of our citizens' (RIA Novosti, 2022a). In February 2023 Pushilin announced that a mechanism had been adopted to nationalize any companies belonging to 'Ukrainian oligarchs'. Pushilin mentioned Rinat Akhmetov by name and said that 'enemies and criminals have no place in the plan of conducting business on our territory' (RIA Novosti, 2023b).

The new authorities began an inventory of the entire property stock of the newly occupied territories. Many businesses were damaged or destroyed in the fighting. Others soon became the target of the new regime. The authorities demanded that businesses work only in roubles, open Russian bank accounts and register in the Russian tax service and Russian corporate register (Katrichenko, 2022). Entrepreneurs faced a difficult choice. In some cases, they registered their business with Russian structures under duress to retain control of their business. If they refused to cooperate, their business was liable to be seized by the occupation authorities and reregistered under new management (Panasenko, 2022). But by agreeing to work with the Russian tax authorities and banks, Ukrainian businesses became involved in 'not just coexistence but cooperation' with the occupation authorities, as one resident put it, leaving them open to potential prosecution by the Ukrainian authorities (Katrichenko, 2022).

By December 2022, according to official figures, some 30,000 organisations and companies in the occupied territories had been reregistered in the Russian corporate register EGRYuL. The Russian authorities appear to have simply transferred existing registrations into the Russian system and set deadlines for companies to comply with all the paperwork (Federal Tax Service, 2022). In cases where owners had fled the occupation or where they refused to reregister, their companies were seized by the occupation authorities and given to other businesspeople – many of them from Russia or Crimea – to manage. This process of imposing 'external administration' on a company was not supposed to involve a formal change in ownership, but in practice that is exactly what appears to have happened in numerous cases. In June 2023, looking back on the last year, the Russian-appointed 'Senator' from Zaporizhia oblast in Russia's Council of

the Federation, Dmitrii Vorona, explained the process: 'a decision was made to nationalise all property that was left behind by the people who owned it previously', he told a conference in Moscow. 'Those who did not go through reregistration in Zaporizhia oblast...[and] who have not got their enterprise up and running, creating jobs – all that property has been nationalised' (Institut stran SNG, 2023).

The Russian authorities began by seizing state and public property. For example, in Zaporizhia in November, the new authorities 'nationalised' 47 hospitals, clinics and other public health services (RIA Novosti, 2022f). The same process took place in relation to public schools, universities, government buildings and social infrastructure. In Zaporizhia in August 2022 a new 'Ministry of Property and Land Relations' was established, which began to publish long lists of so-called 'ownerless' or 'abandoned' property belonging to people who had fled the region (Zapgov, 2022). There were over 200 of these property lists issued by March 2023 including private businesses, apartments, houses and cars (Zapgov, 2023). During the first year of occupation, the authorities in Zaporizhia were reported to have registered some 4,000 businesses and assets as 'abandoned', and therefore liable to de facto 'nationalisation' (Talanova et al., 2023). Legal owners had only three days from a report's publication to report their ownership – together with a list of documents – to the Russian authorities, before the property would be registered with the local authorities as 'abandoned' and therefore liable for de facto nationalisation, with the management rights granted to wellconnected local business groups (RIA-Melitopol, 2022, September 22). An investigation by the Russian independent newspaper *Novaya gazeta Evropa* identified over 1,000 companies in the cities of Melitopol, Berdiansk, Mariupol, Lysychansk, and Severodonetsk that had been reregistered as Russian entities in this way (Talanova et al., 2023).6

In Zaporizhia an 'Inter-agency Commission of the Military-Civilian Administration of the Oblast to Coordinate the Institution of Temporary Administrations'. According to leaked minutes published by a Ukrainian website, this process took place under the head of government Anton Koltsov, and under the wary gaze of the 'Head of National Security of Zaporizhia oblast'. This Commission appointed various local business groups to take control of hundreds of nationalised properties and businesses in the region. According to the leaked minutes of the meeting, some applications were turned down - for not having a business plan for example (or perhaps not having the right connections), but management of many other assets was distributed to both local entrepreneurs and businesses from Russia and Crimea (Inter-agency Commission, 2022). By December 2022, according to Koltsov's public statement, some 400 enterprises had been taken over by the occupation authorities (RIA Novosti, 2022g). Koltsov claimed that these takeovers were only aimed at ensuring that enterprises continued working, and that they were not being transferred to new owners but remained on the books of the regional administration (although in future they could be purchased by the new management) (RIA Novosti, 2022g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Only 260 of more than 1,000 companies had an owner listed. According to Ilya Shumanov of Transparency International, this refusal to list an owner was an attempt to avoid potential sanctions (Talanova et al., 2023).

While this regional commission appears to have been in charge of distributing local shops, apartments, cars, smaller factories and petrol stations, the ownership of major enterprises was to be decided in Moscow. In October 2022 the Russian government set up a special commission to arrange external management of 'abandoned' enterprises in the newly occupied regions. Deputy Prime Minister Marat Khusnullin oversaw the new Commission, with Minister of Construction Irek Faizullin as his deputy (Boiko, 2022). Russian industrial defence giant Rostec was reportedly among those looking to take over some of these enterprises (Boiko, 2022). The proposed list of enterprises included an iron ore plant in Berdiansk, which provided raw material for Azovstal and MMK Ilych; Mariupol port; Severodonetsk Azot chemical factory (belonging to Dmitry Firtash's Group DF); the salt mines at Soledar; coal-fired power stations; and the Zaporizhia Nuclear Power Plant (NPP) (Boiko, 2022).

The most dangerous of Russia's forcible seizures of enterprises was the Rosatom takeover of the **Zaporizhia nuclear power plant (ZNPP)** at Enerhodar, where Russian forces took control in March 2022 and staff were simply informed that they were now working for Russia's nuclear power corporation Rosatom (Yaffa, 2022). On 3 October 2022, according to Russian corporate records, Rosenergoatom – the Rosatom subsidiary that runs Russia's nuclear power plants – set up a new company, the 'Zaporozhye NPP Operating Organisation, Joint Stock Company' to run the plant, under a new director (EGRYuL 2023; Volobuev, 2022). On 5 October 2022, President Putin signed a decree that instructed the government to take over the ZNPP as federal property and to set up a unitary company that would manage the property (President RF, 2022). The 'Zaporozhye NPP, Federal State Unitary Enterprise', was duly registered on 7 October in the Russian tax system, but without listing the names of its directors and personnel (EGRYuL 2023).

In many other cases, the key players behind the seizure of enterprises were difficult to ascertain. According to the management of the **Zaporizhia Iron Ore Plant (ZZRK)**, one of Ukraine's biggest private ore mining companies, the Russian military seized control of the ZZRK in June 2022. Thousands of tonnes of iron ore were reportedly stolen (Korrespondent.net, 2022). In July the plant was reregistered in the Russian corporate database as the Dneprorudny Iron Ore Plant [Днепрорудненский железорудный комбинат] and a new director installed (Lizan, 2022). The Ukrainian authorities claimed in March that ore from ZZRK was being exported through Mariupol port and sold by 'structures related to the FSB', although there was no independent confirmation of these claims (Sprotyv, 2023).

The **Tokmak granite quarry** in Zaporizhia oblast was also seized in June after the management refused to cooperate with Russian forces, according to media reports (Talanova et al., 2023). In late 2022 the quarry was registered in Russian corporate records with a new founder, the Centre for Economic Cooperation of Republics (CEC) [Центр экономического взаимодействия республик]. The CEC is a Crimea-based firm, which had already been active for several years in banking and trade with the DNR and LNR (Talanova et al. 2023). Among the founders of CEC, according to Russian corporate records, were Yaroslav Tibekin, a well-known Donbas businessman, and Elena Kozenko, who has the same name as the wife of a sanctioned Russian businessman and former State Duma deputy from Crimea, Andrei Kozenko (Talanova et al., 2023; EGRYuL 2023). According to Russian corporate records, another mining company,

'Mineral' in Zaporizhia oblast, was reregistered in the Russian corporate register in February 2023 (EGRYuL 2023). The records showed Tatiana Tibekina to hold a 40% stake in the company (EGRYuL, 2023). She was reported in the media to be the wife of Yaroslav Tibekin (Talanova et al., 2023).

According to Russian parliamentary deputy Andrei Lugavoi, in November 2022 the Russian authorities seized control of the huge **MMK Ilych** metals plant in Mariupol (Boiko, 2022). The plant belongs to Rinat Akhmetov's Metinvest company and employed some 35,000 people before the war. In January 2023 the BBC reported that a Chechen businessman had registered as co-owner of a company called MMK Ilyich in Makeevka in the DNR (Churmanova & Goryanov, 2023). Subsequently, the ownership of the company changed, with another businessman with links to Chechnya taking a 50% stake in the company (BBC, 2023; EGRYuL 2023). But there seemed little doubt who was really in charge. Photographs in the press showed the factory gates emblazoned with portraits of Vladimir Putin and Chechen leader Ramzan Kadyrov (Moscow Times, 2023). When Chechen officials visited Mariupol in August 2023 to announce a twinning arrangement with Grozny, Kadyrov commented on Telegram that the delegation also met with Chechen fighters 'guaranteeing the security of the Illych metallurgical plant' (Kadyrov, 2023). Chechen forces had been actively involved in the Russian attack on Mariupol in 2022 and appear to have been 'rewarded' with economic assets. Chechen networks were also alleged to be active in other sectors of the economy of the occupied territories, including in agriculture (Intelligence Online, 2023).

While control of major plants was decided by intra-elite bargaining in Moscow, smaller companies provided opportunities for local players to get involved – and to play out long-standing local feuds. For example, the Avtogidroagregat company, associated with the new 'governor' Yevgeny Balitsky (Litvin, 2022), was granted management control of the Children's Health Camps 'Salyut' and 'Smena', according to a leaked protocol of a meeting published by Ukrainian sources (Inter-agency Commission, 2022). A Ukrainian report also linked Balitsky to other takeovers, including the Melitopol Tractor Parts Factory in April 2022 in Obilnoe near Melitopol (RIA-Melitopol, 2022a; Centre for Investigative Journalism, 2023). The plant belonged to Anatoly Kuzmin, who had fled the city, having refused to work with the occupation authorities. According to the new management installed by the occupation authorities, the plant was functioning again by February 2023, supplying automobile and tractor parts for Russian and Belarusian companies (Melitopol News, 2023). The plant had reportedly also fulfilled orders for the Ukrainian army in the past, and in January 2023 Balitsky told the press that the plant would resume production of components for weapons, only now for the Russian military (Centre for Journalistic Investigations, 2023). Many of these factories had been badly hit by the collapse in trade with Russia after 2014. Workers at one of Balitsky's factories had staged protests in 2017 calling for the restoration of economic ties with Russia – the main market for its machinery (Ukraina.ru, 2017). Balitsky's business interests were thus clearly in favour of economic integration with Russia, even before the invasion.

Melitopol had a number of these small and medium-sized engineering companies, most of which were now seized by the occupation authorities. **Hydrosila**, a hydraulics manufacturer, was seized by Russian troops on 3 June 2022, according to a company press release, but by July was exporting products to Russia under new management, and

in November 2022 was re-registered in Russia's corporate database (RIA Novosti, 2022c; Talanova et al., 2023; EGRYuL, 2023).

The new authorities took control of food production early in the war, no doubt seeing these food plants as both strategically important and potentially profitable. In May 2022, Ukrainian media reported that the local **Melitopol Meat Factory** had been taken over by armed men (RIA-Melitopol, 2022b). The occupation authorities also seized bread factories belonging to Boris Shestopalov's HD Group in Berdiansk and Melitopol (Koroleva, 2023; Ukraine Crisis, 2022). On 1 February 2023 the **Melitopol Bread Plant** was re-registered in the Russian corporate register, with a new director (EGRYuL, 2023). The occupation authorities also seized **Melitopol Milk Plant** and it was transferred to the Russian corporate register under the ownership of a company (Nizhnegorskii konservnyi zavod) also controlled by Tatiana Tibekina, according to corporate records (Talanova et al., 2023; EGRYuL, 2023). The plant reportedly belonged to a well-known local business family – the Romanovs (Panasenko, 2022). According to Ivan Fedorov, the exiled mayor of Melitopol, hundreds of other businesspeople in the city informed the Ukrainian police and security services about similar business seizures (Talanova et al., 2023).

The criteria for declaring a property 'abandoned' were completely opaque. One farmer who retained control of his lands by reluctantly reregistering them with the Russian authorities, called the process 'corrupt' and said that 'there are no clear rules by which criteria property enters these registers' (Novaya gazeta Evropa, 2023). Loyalty to the new authorities seemed to be the primary criterion, but loyalties were often disputed under occupation. Well-known Berdiansk businessman Oleksandr Ponomarev was detained in March 2022 by Russian forces for 10 days; in protest, workers at his factories were reported to have gone on strike (Talanova et al., 2023). Subsequently, his companies Agrinol, Azmol and machine-building company Berdiansk Harvesters [Бердянские жатки] were all seized by the occupation authorities (Pershii Zaporizki, 2022). The reason was the alleged 'misconduct' of the owner, who had allegedly refused to resume production and pay taxes to Russia (TASS, 2022). The Ukrainian authorities initially stated that 'the enterprises were confiscated by the occupiers and handed over to the Russians, due to the management's refusal to cooperate with the enemy' (Sprotyv 2022). But later a very different version emerged. It was reported in July 2023 that Ponomarev had been arrested on charges of high treason for allegedly cooperating with the Russian occupation authorities (Radio Svoboda 2023).

In February 2023 Berdiansk Harvesters was re-registered in Russia's corporate records with a new owner (EGRYuL 2023). By May 2023 Berdiansk Harvesters, marketed under the brand 'John Greaves', were exhibiting at an agricultural fair in in Krasnodar province in Russia (Kostyukevich & Lukin 2023). Representatives of the company, selling their bright yellow combine harvesters and other farm equipment, told journalists that the factory was fully functioning: 'We have resolved all the logistical problems in supply chains that we faced last year. There are difficulties but everything can be resolved' (GlavPahar 2023).

#### 3.1. Agriculture

Russia's newly occupied territories in Zaporizhia and Kherson contain some of Ukraine's prime agricultural land, and it was in agriculture that some of the most egregious acts of appropriation and plunder took place. According to research by the Kyiv School of Economics, by April 2023 the Ukrainian agricultural sector had suffered some US\$8.7 billion in direct losses as a result of the war, including some US\$2 billion in theft of inputs and outputs (KSE Agrocenter, 2023). Indirect losses (lower production, logistics disruption and higher costs) were calculated at an additional US\$31.5 billion (KSE Agrocenter, 2023).

According to NASA, Ukraine lost at least US\$1 billion worth of wheat harvested in Russian-occupied areas after February 2022. Despite the Russian occupation, some 88% of winter crops planted in occupied areas were still harvested, but crops were then bought cheaply or simply stolen and, in many cases, illegally exported (Quinn & de Sousa, 2022). Dmitry Skornyakov, Chief Executive Officer of Ukrainian agribusiness HarvEast, which had extensive land holdings in the east, told Bloomberg that 'Everything that was harvested on our fields was stolen and exported from Ukraine' (Quinn & de Sousa, 2022).

Initially, there were numerous reports of straightforward theft by Russian looters and marauding troops. According to a report by CNN in May 2022, Russian forces stole tractors and combine harvesters worth nearly US\$5 million from the Agrotek dealership in Melitopol, some of which were later spotted in Chechnya (Fylyppov & Lister, 2022). After this initial free-for-all, the Russian authorities appear to have realised that more of this blatant theft would leave farms unable to operate and ultimately undermine Russian control. Instead, Russian authorities forced farmers to either give up control to Russian business interests or to cooperate with the occupation authorities. Where farmers refused to cooperate, they faced reprisals. Numerous farmers reported that their farms had been seized by groups of armed men. In April 2022, for example, Andrii Chornyi, head of Agrokoin LLC, a vegetable producer, told journalists that his greenhouses had been seized when armed men turned up to the site, alongside a local pro-Russian official. The company was 'nationalised' and Chornyi lost control over his business (Shevchenko, 2023).

A report in *The Wall Street Journal* claimed that Ukrainian landowners were frequently forced to rewrite contracts and paperwork – including ownership deeds – under pressure from the occupation authorities (MacDonald & Pyrozhok, 2022). Three major Ukrainian companies, HarvEast, Nibulon Ltd and Agroton Public Ltd, accused a Russian company, Agrocomplex, of seizing their lands, totalling some 400,000 acres (MacDonald & Pyrozhok 2022). According to HarvEast, at one point in May 2022, control over their lands was disputed by rival armed groups including groups acting on behalf of Agrocomplex and the local pro-Russian administration. Agrocomplex is one of Russia's biggest farm operators, controlled by former Agriculture Minister and Krasnodar governor Alexandr Tkachev (MacDonald & Pyrozhok, 2022). According to a report in Kommersant, his company also planned to develop a food distribution network in the occupied territories in 2023 (Kostyrev & Savitskaya, 2023).

Having seized control of farms, the Russian authorities proceeded to establish new purchase mechanisms and export routes for Ukrainian grain. Although the prices offered were low, farmers had little choice but to sell to a new company, the State Grain Operator, which was set up in May 2022 by the VGA in Zaporizhia. According to an investigation by the *Financial Times*, it was headed by Nikita Busel, a businessman who had previously run a chain of coffee shops in central Russia (Ivanova et al., 2022; EGRYuL, 2023). The State Grain Operator took over farms and enterprises whose owners had fled the occupation and also bought grain at below-market prices from farmers who remained. Social media showed pictures of regular truck and rail transports of grain to Crimea (Biesecker et al., 2022).

The *Financial Times* tracked one Syrian-flagged vessel, the Pawell, that almost certainly loaded grain in the port of Berdiansk and sold it to Turkish customers on the other side of the Black Sea. Although Syrian-flagged, the Pawell was owned by a UK-registered partnership, the Pawell Shipping Co LLC, registered at an address in Bloomsbury, London (Ivanova et al., 2022). In May 2023 the UK government sanctioned Pawell Shipping Co LLP, the State Grain Corporation (GZO) and its director Nikita Busel, accusing them of being 'connected to the systematic theft of Ukrainian grain' (UK Government, 2023). This was not the only company that potentially linked the UK to Ukrainian grain exports. In November 2022 a company called Grainholding Ltd was registered at UK Companies House, with a company director by the name of Volodymyr Saldo, the same name as the Russian-appointed 'governor' of Kherson oblast, who is under UK sanctions (Burgis, 2023).<sup>7</sup>

Initially, some of this illicit grain was exported through Russia or routed via Crimea. Yevgeny Balitsky admitted in June 2022 that grain from Zaporizhia was being exported through Crimean ports (Saul et al., 2022). A major export market was Syria, which was in desperate need of grain. According to Reuters, wheat exports to Syria from Sevastopol rose more than 17 times in 2022 to over 500,000 tonnes, using Russian-flagged ships and three sanctioned Syrian ships (Saul et al., 2022). The use of Russian and Syrian-flagged ships enabled the trade to continue despite sanctions on both countries and the illegal nature of the grain export.

In March 2023 the Russian Ministry of Transport reported that it had included the Ukrainian ports of Mariupol and Berdiansk in the Russian register of national ports (RIA Novosti 2023). Local officials openly celebrated the use of Mariupol port to export grain from the occupied territories and to import thousands of tons of construction materials. A promotional video released in May 2023 by the Ministry of Construction's Roskapstroi subsidiary, which played a lead role in reopening the port, showed grain being loaded into the cargo ship Mezhdurechensk in Mariupol port, apparently destined for Rostov (Roskapstroi, 2023). According to the Russian agriculture inspectorate, 24 grain ships left Mariupol port between January and August 2023 (Rosselkhoznadzor, 2023). A regular shipping route was developing, linking Mariupol with Rostov-on-Don, Azov and Sevastopol (ZOV Mariupol, 2023). In this way, the Russian authorities sought to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There are no identity checks carried out by Companies House when a company is registered in the UK, so it is impossible to be certain about who established the company or whether it has any connection with Saldo, but the case demonstrates how lax the controls are on company formation in the UK.

normalise Russia's capture of the Azov Sea and take advantage of its occupation of Ukrainian ports along its northern shores.

#### Box 3: International law and economic activities under occupation

Although Russia does not acknowledge that it is an 'Occupying Power' under international law, its actions meet the criteria for such a designation. Under international law, the 'Occupying Power' has extensive legal obligations, including those towards public and private property and economic activities (Kassoti & Duval, 2020; Lieblich & Benvenisti, 2022).

Article 46 of the Hague Convention insists that 'Private property cannot be confiscated'. Article 47 mandates that 'Pillage is formally forbidden' (Laws and Customs of War on Land (Hague IV, 1907, October 18). Pillage (or plunder) is defined as 'the forcible taking of private property by an invading or conquering army from the enemy's subjects' (Garner, 1979). It has been outlawed in successive codes of international law since at least the 19th century.

The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court considers that 'pillaging a town or place, even when taken by assault' constitutes a war crime. Other potential wars crimes include 'Extensive destruction and appropriation of property, not justified by military necessity and carried out unlawfully and wantonly' and 'Destroying or seizing the enemy's property unless such destruction or seizure be imperatively demanded by the necessities of war'.

#### 3.2. Telecoms

Control of telecoms and internet access was critical for the Russian authorities to enforce their own propaganda, to limit residents' access to Ukrainian news sources and to control communications among the population. Russia already had experience of taking over Ukrainian telecoms in Crimea and in occupied areas of Donbas after 2014. In those regions, major Russian telecoms companies had been reluctant to invest for fear of sanctions and so several local providers were set up, having seized the networks belonging to Ukrainian providers.

As Russian troops swept into southern Ukraine in March 2022, Russian telecoms engineers were not far behind. Russian authorities seized the transmitters and masts of Ukrainian networks, such as Kyivstar. Local mobile phone networks soon switched to operators from Crimea (Skobelev & Yuzbekova, 2022). Residents had to buy new SIM cards that worked with the new Russian operators (The Bell, 2022). The DNR company Phoenix moved into Mariupol and other newly occupied areas of Donetsk oblast, while the Russian authorities used a Crimean internet provider, Miranda-Media (branded as Mir Telekom), to take over both cellular and internet provision in Russian-controlled areas of Kherson and Zaporizhia oblasts (Korolev, 2022). Miranda-Media had been registered in Crimea in 2004, and according to reports in 2022, Rostelecom held almost 20% of the shares, with the rest owned by a shipping company Liukstrans (Ustinova,

2023).8 The Crimean company K-Telecom (branded as +7Telecom) also expanded from the peninsula to offer cellular services in Kherson and Zaporizhia oblasts (Isakova, 2023).

In February 2023, Miranda-Media took over the Ukrainian company Mediana, the biggest local internet provider in Mariupol, in what appeared to be a classic 'raider attack'. Mediana subscribers found their internet access cut on 3 February, with no explanation. Access to the internet was restored the next day, but by that time Mediana had a new owner: Miranda-Media. A notice on the building simply announced that Mediana had ceased to operate, and subscribers would have to transfer to its provider Mir Telekom (ZOV Zaporizhia, 2023). In February 2023 *Vedemosti* reported that Miranda-Media was expanding to the DNR and LNR (Ustinova, 2023). In March 2023 Kommersant suggested that Miranda-Media would take over Phoenix and other local mobile networks and establish a single operator across the four regions (N. Korolev & Yurasova, 2023).

The business of Miranda-Media in the occupied territories was seized from Ukrainian companies. Its cellular network was established on equipment belonging to Kyivstar. Its director, Ivan Zima, was a rising star in Rostelecom, having run telecoms for the Russian elections and the Sochi Olympics. He then managed Miranda-Media in Crimea in 2014-19, before returning to work for Rostelecom as a Vice-President (Soldatov & Borogan, 2022). Zima had also been director of Krymtelecom since October 2022 (Krymtelecom, 2022), suggesting that he was essentially the point man in charge of a new digital infrastructure across the entire region. But on 26 May 2023 Miranda-Media went off air, apparently after a cyberattack. It took several weeks to restore its payment systems and official website. Zima left his post and was reportedly replaced by another Rostelekom official (Korolev, 2023). Residents in the occupied territories continued to report poor connections both on mobile networks and on the internet.

Before 2022 the 'Big Four' Russian telecoms companies (Tele 2, MTS, Megafon and Beeline) were too nervous about sanctions to allow their subscribers to use the local telecoms networks in DNR/LNR and Crimea. Although major Russian telecoms companies still held back from operating directly in the occupied territories, they did ensure that their subscribers' phones could now use local networks through a roaming agreement, effectively integrating the new networks with Russian providers (Kurasheva et al., 2022). Those with local SIM-cards could also use them in Russia, effectively integrating the occupied territories with the Russian communications space.

#### 3.3. Banking

All this illicit business activity was financed and facilitated by Russian banks, responsible for the 'financial occupation' of Ukrainian territories. The authorities began a shift from the Ukrainian hryvnia to the Russian rouble as early as May 2022 (Meduza, 2022a). From 1 January 2023, the Russian authorities announced that the hryvnia would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Access to information about the current shareholders and management in Miranda-Media is now restricted in the Russian corporate database, EGRYuL (EGRYuL, 2023).

no longer be in use officially. Ukrainian banks were forced to close in the occupied territories and three Russian banks – designed to operate in a way that would not be impacted by international sanctions – opened branches in the territories. By February 2023, Russian banks had opened a total of 194 branches in the 'LNR and DNR', 33 in Zaporizhia oblast and 23 in Kherson oblast (Sherunkova, 2023), and the numbers continued to expand rapidly.

Russian banks had avoided working in LNR/DNR before 2022, leaving residents with no way to transfer money to Russia except through informal cash transfers. However, in June 2022 the state-owned Promsvyazbank (PSB) began operations in LNR/DNR. PSB is a fully state-owned bank that was mandated to work with the Russian defence sector – and therefore one that would be largely impervious to sanctions. The bank has been designated by US sanctions and removed from the SWIFT network. It is closely linked to the security establishment. It is headed by Petr Fradkov, son of a former prime minister and head of external intelligence, Mikhail Fradkov (Reuters, 2022).

In April 2022 PSB began work in Crimea, and in June it began operations in LNR/DNR, Kherson and Zaporizhia oblasts (Fedorchenko, 2022). It opened a branch in Kupiansk in August after Russian forces occupied the town, but a month later, in September, it swiftly closed when Ukrainian forces liberated the city (Skorkin, 2022). PSB was also forced to abandon a dozen branches in Kherson oblast after Ukrainian forces liberated Kherson in November 2022. The Central Bank of Russia website informs the public that 'customer services are temporarily suspended' at these branches (Central Bank of Russia, 2023).

In February 2023 PSB took over the two central banks of the DNR and LNR, expanding its network of banks and making it the leading bank in the occupied territories. In April 2023 Prime Minister Mishustin indicated that PSB would be the primary bank operating in the territories (Kochkina, 2023). It began to open branches across the occupied territories, including in Kherson oblast, Zaporizhia oblast and across Donetsk and Luhansk oblasts, all of them established in 2022-23 (Central Bank of Russia, 2023).

A second bank operating in the regions was the International Settlement Bank (Mezhdunarodnyi raschetnyi bank (MRB)), registered in South Ossetia, which had opened a branch in LNR in 2015 and in DNR in 2018. The MRB made use of a legal loophole prior to 2022 that enabled Russian banks to transfer money to the LNR/DNR via the unrecognised territory of South Ossetia to avoid sanctions (Zhegulev, 2018).

In February 2023 MRB announced that its operations would be taken over by the Centre for International Settlements Bank (CMR Bank), a bank with unclear ownership, but now registered in Moscow, not in South Ossetia (EGRYuL, 2023; CMR Bank, 2023; Sherunkova, 2023). According to its website (www.cmrbank.ru/offices), CMR Bank opened branches across the occupied territories, including in Berdiansk, Henichesk and Skadovsk in Kherson oblast, in Donetsk, Makeevka and Volodarskoe in Donetsk oblast, in Melitopol (Zaporizhia oblast), Starobelsk and Luhansk (Luhansk oblast) and in Simferopol (Crimea). Workers in the public health system in Kherson oblast began receiving their salaries through CMR Bank, a sign of their good connections to the local administration (Kherson 'Administration', 2023).

Access to banking was used as a form of pressure on local people. Most residents of the occupied territories lost easy access to their Ukrainian bank accounts. From 1 January 2023, salaries, social welfare payments and bank transfers were paid to a personal bank account in one of the new banks. Businesses also needed access to banking to survive. However, to open bank accounts in Russian banks, residents usually required a Russian passport, which further increased pressure on local citizens to adopt Russian identity documents (Skorkin, 2022). Residents described how difficult life was in the occupied territories, with queues to get new passports and documents, and more queues at the bank to receive money. In most cases, locals had low salaries or depended on social welfare; the goods in the well-stocked shelves at new Russian shops were often out of their price range (RFE/RL, 2023). Many survived on the monthly aid ration doled out by the Russian authorities.

#### **Box 4: Collaboration**

Resolving questions about criminal liability for activities that might be considered 'collaboration' will be critical to Ukraine's successful reintegration of these territories. In March 2022 the Verkhovna Rada (Ukraine's national parliament) approved amendments to the Criminal Code, adding articles on 'Collaboration activity' (Article 111-1) and 'aiding and abetting the aggressor state' (Article 111-2). The new articles outlined a range of activities considered to be criminal acts of collaboration (Criminal Code, 2023). As of August 2023, more than 6,000 cases had been opened in Ukraine involving alleged collaboration under these articles of the Criminal Code (Sinyuk, 2023).

In many cases, the potential liability for criminal charges is very broad. In the economic sphere, Article 111-1 outlaws the '[t]ransfer of material resources to illegal armed or paramilitary formations created in the temporarily occupied territory, and/or armed or paramilitary formations of the aggressor state, and/or implementation of economic activities in cooperation with the aggressor state, [or] illegal authorities created in the temporarily occupied territory, including the occupation administration of the aggressor state' (Criminal Code, 2023, Article 111-1).

Any such economic activity is punishable by fines, imprisonment for 3-5 years, and deprivation of the right to hold positions and confiscation of property.

Ukrainian lawyers have noted numerous problems with the wording of the current law and its implementation. Collaboration is not defined clearly in the text and a legal analysis by a coalition of human rights groups concludes that Art. 111-1 may criminalize 'perfectly legitimate activities', including humanitarian aid, medical services, or running a grocery store (ZMINA et al., 2023, 7). The government has drafted a new law that deals with some of these questions, but it remained under discussion in September 2023. Ukrainian civil society and legal experts have been producing their own analysis, which attempts to address the concerns of people living under occupation about their potential criminal liability for conducting business activities, even in cases where they were acting under duress (ZMINA et al., 2023).

## 4. Reconstruction

One way of making money from Russia's war was through the illegal seizure and exploitation of Ukrainian businesses. The other option for well-connected subcontractors and construction companies was to win contracts to reconstruct the cities and towns that the Russian military had so recently destroyed. This process was characterised by opaque tenders and an almost complete lack of accountability for the billions of dollars that the Russian state intended to spend in the occupied territories, risking high levels of corruption and profiteering in an emerging war economy.

The Russian government launched construction projects to repair damaged housing or rebuild transport infrastructure across the occupied territories. Small-scale projects often initiated through the partnerships with Russian regions, while major construction programmes were overseen by the Ministry of Construction and the Ministry of Defence. Nevertheless, attention was focused primarily on the city of Mariupol, large parts of which were destroyed in the Russian military assault, and which Russia was attempting to reconstruct as a 'model' city, representing a fantasy vision of the future of Russia's occupation.

### 4.1. Reconstructing Mariupol

The UN estimated that some 90% of Mariupol's multi-storey apartment buildings were damaged or destroyed during a brutal three-month siege of the city, along with 60% of private, detached houses. A report by AP based on video evidence concluded that 'munitions have left their mark on nearly every building across its 166 square kilometers' (AP, 2022). Russia launched a major reconstruction programme soon after they seized control of the city in May 2022. By August, the Russian Ministry of Construction had developed a glossy 'Master Plan', which envisaged complete reconstruction of the city to include parks, schools, public transport, business, and housing for up to 500,000 people by 2035 (The Village, 2022).

Russian officials openly compared the plans for Mariupol to those of Grozny, which was rebuilt in the 2000s to erase any collective memory of Russia's assault on the city. When Sergei Stepashin visited Mariupol on 11 December 2022 in his capacity as head of a public council under the Ministry of Construction, he talked about reproducing Grozny's 'No traces of war' construction campaign (Gamov, 2022). The reconstruction campaign in Mariupol deliberately sought to erase evidence of Russian war crimes and to obliterate any evidence of Mariupol's history as a Ukrainian city.

In October 2022, Russian authorities took down a memorial to victims of the 1930s famine, known to Ukrainians as the Holodomor, repainted signs in Russian colours, and removed all historical and symbolic references to Ukraine. Mariupol was set to become a symbolic place in Russia's propaganda. Not surprisingly, it was the first destination that Putin visited in the Donbas, in a flying visit on 18 March 2023 to see reconstruction efforts.

Alongside all the political symbolism, the reconstruction campaign provided huge opportunities for profit and corruption, with different institutions and power networks fighting over potential contracts. Alexander Bastrykin, head of Russia's Investigative Committee, claimed the damage to Mariupol amounted to at least 176 billion roubles (US\$2.2 billion) – almost certainly an underestimate, but indicative of the expected scale of Russian investment in the city (Roshchina, 2022). Ukrainian officials put the reconstruction bill as high as US\$14 billion (Zholobova, 2022).

In 2022-23 there were at least 15 different companies reported to be working on construction in Mariupol and benefiting from these funds. Contracts were handed out through a completely opaque process. There is no public record of which companies are working on reconstruction, how they are funded or how they won contracts. It is often only possible to identify companies by indirect indicators, such as recruitment campaigns, or visual evidence of their work in news videos.

The most advertised construction site in Russian propaganda campaigns was a new micro-district 'Nevsky' in western Mariupol built by the **Voenno-stroitelnaya Kompaniya** [Military Construction Company - VSK], the main construction company of the Ministry of Defence. This was an obligatory spot on the tour of all visiting Russian dignitaries, including President Putin. According to the company, by December 2022 they had built 12 apartment buildings in the Nevsky micro-district (VSK, 2022). VSK does not carry out the construction itself – it subcontracts the work to other companies, in this case the company, **Olimpsitistroy**. According to company records, Olympsitistroy was founded in 2006; its two shareholders are listed as Alexander Fomin and Dmitry Khavronin, reported to be two well-connected businessmen with ties to the military (Zholobova, 2022; EGRYuL, 2023). The company has won a series of military construction projects in recent years (Zholobova, 2022).

Figure 1: Nevsky micro-district





A new apartment complex in the 'Nevsky' micro-district constructed by Olympsitistroy, in contract with VSK, in western Mariupol. By 2023, there were already families living in the apartments and it had become a showcase for Russian official visitors.

Source: Skywatch 2023

When Defence Minister Sergei Shoigu visited Mariupol in March 2023 to visit the Nevsky district and a newly built medical centre in Mariupol, he was accompanied by Timur Ivanov, the deputy defence minister who oversees the entire MOD construction sector (VSK, 2023). This is a huge sector ranging from military housing to the Vostochny spaceport, with a significant budget and a long-standing reputation for opaque tenders and insider subcontractor deals. Ivanov has reportedly been responsible for overseeing the MOD's construction projects in the occupied territories. Leaked emails, photographs and receipts analysed by Alexei Navalny's Anti-Corruption Foundation (ACF) appeared to provide an insight into the lifestyle of Ivanov. Even after he was awarded a medal for his role in the annexation of Crimea in 2014, ACF alleged that Ivanov still carried on a tradition of spending summer holidays with his family in the south of France. The family spent about 1.3 million euros on their summer holidays over six years in 2013-18, according to the ACF allegations (ACF, 2022). Anti-corruption activists complained that Ivanov's former spouse, whom he divorced after the war began in August 2022, continued her luxury visits to Europe, despite the war (Ward & Krever, 2023; Pevchikh, 2023).

A further construction company active in Mariupol with defence ties was EKS, which the investigative group Proekt called a 'mysterious company with a three-letter name, which wins enormous state contracts one after the other' (Proekt, 2020). EKS was reported to be rebuilding the Port City shopping centre and five micro-districts in Mariupol – some 235 different buildings in all (RIA Novosti, 2022d). According to Proekt, between 2010 and 2020 the company won some US\$1.7 billion in state contracts, with particular success in Moscow and in Yaroslavl oblast (Proekt, 2020). The registered owner and general director of the company was Alexei Vlasov, reported to be a graduate of the MOD Military University. However, according to Proekt's investigation, there may be other influential players behind the company, also with close ties to the military (Proekt, 2020).

While companies associated with the military won a large portion of the reconstruction contracts, the overall reconstruction programme came under the control of Russia's Ministry of Construction. Deputy Minister of Construction and Utilities, Valerii Leonov, was reportedly deployed almost full-time in the region (Gamov, 2022). Leonov told the press in May 2023 that nine state companies and 167 subcontractors were working on the reconstruction programme in the occupied territories, employing a total of 38,000 workers (Minstroi RF, 2023). The Ministry of Construction worked through a state holding company, the so-called 'Single Contractor in the Construction Sphere' [Edinnyi Zakazschik v Sfere Stroitel'stva - EZSS]. EZSS was set up in February 2021 with the ostensible aim of making state-funded construction projects more effective and less vulnerable to corruption. EZSS took responsibility for more than 1,500 buildings across Mariupol, repairing or rebuilding residential buildings and restoring social infrastructure - hospitals, schools and universities, and the seafront park. By May 2023 it also claimed to have built more than 1,500 new apartments in 25 apartment blocks, with more planned by the end of the year (EZSS 2023). EZSS planned to build a huge new district of some 50 apartment blocks in an eastern district of Mariupol. EZSS also works through numerous subcontractors – the new district was due to be built by SGM group, a Moscow-based construction company (ZOV - DNR, 2022).

Not surprisingly, given the twinning arrangement with Mariupol, St Petersburg companies also had success at winning construction contracts (Fontanka, 2022). Lenmontazh worked on heating systems and pipelines (Fontanka, 2022). A company called Ispitatelnyi Tsentr 'Stroiekspert' also registered its subsidiary in Mariupol in August 2022 and reportedly won a contract to reconstruct the Mariupol Philharmonic (Zholobova, 2022). Other companies active in the reconstruction programme included a well-established Moscow-based company EvroTransStroi, engaged in bridge repairs and road building (RIA Novosti, 2022b). This company was also in charge of building roads in Crimea after 2014. Another construction company, R-Stroi, posted dozens of offers of work suggesting it had won a large contract in Mariupol (Fontanka, 2022). In March 2023 it registered a branch in Mariupol (EGRYuL, 2023), and was reported to be rebuilding Mariupol State University and running other construction projects in the city (Mariupol News, 2023). According to company records, R-Stroi was founded in May 2022 by Nikolai Milkis and Konstantin Nuriev. Milkis, a former deputy governor of the Khanty-Mansiysk Autonomous Okrug-Ugra, was reported to be a business associate of the leading Russian pharmaceutical company R-Pharm, founded by Alexei Repik. In May 2023 a journalistic investigation by the Scanner Project alleged that the R-Stroi company was linked to Repik (The Insider, 2023).

Russia's relentless propaganda about the reconstruction process could not disguise the reality for many Mariupol residents, who continued to live in damaged homes or were effectively homeless after their houses were destroyed in the war (Coynash, 2023; Mikhailov, 2023). Residents complained that they were refused new apartments because they had a small dacha or summer house, or on other spurious grounds (Coynash, 2023). There were increasing complaints on social media from residents, complaining about decisions to demolish their homes without providing new accommodation (Romanenko, 2023). Ukrainian commentators feared that developers would sell new apartments to incomers from Russia as part of a wider plan to encourage migrants to replace Ukrainians in Mariupol. Some Russian citizens were already starting to look for property investments in Mariupol and other resorts on the Azov Sea in 2023, according to Russian independent media (Chiknaeva, 2023).

#### 4.2. Other construction projects

New construction projects were not limited to Mariupol. Sergei Kiriyenko talked up the prospects for a new town on the Arabat spit, south of Henichensk (RIA Novosti, 2023a). After the Russian withdrawal from Kherson, the occupation administration used Henichensk as their administrative centre. According to Khusnullin, initial work had already been completed on the city by February 2023 (RIA Novosti, 2023c). Other projects were launched across the DNR and LNR, with twinned regions often taking the lead. The same pattern of opaque tenders and insider deals appears to have been characteristic across the occupied territories.

Russia also had grand plans to build transport infrastructure along the northern shores of the Sea of Azov to consolidate the strategically important land bridge to Crimea. In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The ownership structure appears to have changed in March 2023 (EGRYuL, 2023).

early June 2022 Sergei Shoigu announced that Russia had restored road links across the mainland from Russia to Crimea – one of Russia's key strategic goals, but these were often in poor repair. According to the Russian Minister of Transport, Vitaly Savelev, more than 594km of roads were repaired in 2022 and 761km were to be rebuilt in 2023 at a cost of 53 billion roubles in 2022 and 75 billion in 2023 (Vedomosti, 2023). The land corridor took on even more strategic significance after Ukraine launched attacks on the Crimean bridge that linked Crimea to Russia across the Kerch Strait. If Russia lost the land route across south-eastern Ukraine, Russia's supply chains to Crimea would become increasingly vulnerable as Ukraine's counter-offensive pushed southwards.

The old road was often blocked with traffic. Trucks waited for two to three days to enter and leave the territories in December 2022 (Gamov, 2022). According to Russian laws, there was no longer a state border between the Russian Federation and the occupied territories, but there were still extensive border and customs checks. As one article stated, the 'real, rather than imaginary, police-customs border of Russia is still where it was before the war' (Skorkin, 2022). The delays were so bad when former prime minister Sergei Stepashin visited Donetsk oblast in December 2022, he had to drive through a back way across the fields to get across the border without waiting (Gamov, 2022).

In a meeting with Pushilin in April 2023, President Putin promised new transport links through the Donbas, including new roads and railways. In a sign of the micromanagement that characterised Putin's approach to the regions, Pushilin asked for a four-lane highway instead of the existing two-lane highway to link Donetsk with Rostov oblast (Kremlin.ru, 2023a). More reliable rail links from Russia to the occupied territories were a priority for resupplying the military. Prime Minister Mikhail Mishustin signed a decree on 29 May 2023 creating the 'Railways of Novorossiya' state company, which would unite all the different railways of the four regions under central control (RF, 2023). The focus on strategic transport was a reminder that much of the construction activity was designed to bolster Russia's military control of the occupied territories, not to meet the needs of the population.

# 5. Conclusion

The brutal violence of Russia's military occupation has rightly been the subject of extensive reporting. However, the entire occupation regime was also enabled and underpinned by illicit economic and financial activities: the introduction of a Russian banking system, the imposition of the Russian currency, a complete reversal of trade and supply routes from Ukraine and Europe to Russia and Crimea, and a sudden influx of Russian companies and businesspeople. Russian military, security and business actors illegally seized Ukrainian assets and businesses, appropriated private property and plundered Ukrainian homes and businesses. This assertion of economic control ultimately relied on Russian military force, but it also required an extensive network of illicit finance, criminal ties, and grand corruption.

These dynamics of illicit finance and economic crime have important implications for Russia's ability to maintain the occupation and for Ukraine's longer-term ability to reintegrate and reconstruct these territories successfully.

First, the financial and economic levers that accompanied occupation provided ways for Russia to co-opt local elites and businesspeople. Despite widespread opposition to Russian rule in south-eastern Ukraine, Russia was able to co-opt some local entrepreneurs and officials. Most of these businesspeople were motivated not by ideological convictions, but by opportunities for personal advancement and self-enrichment. Many also feared reprisals from Russian occupation forces. This ability to co-opt some local leaders has made it easier for Russia to maintain control.

Second, the economic occupation generated new rents to distribute to Russian elites through seizures of businesses and factories, new government contracts for reconstruction and a wave of corruption linked to Russia's military operation. Military leaders, regional officials, well-connected construction companies, and local and federal officials all saw potential personal benefits from the occupation. This process ensured that powerful vested interests in Russia have an economic stake in Russia's continued occupation of Ukrainian territory and little incentive to seek peace while a booming war economy continues.

Third, the occupied territories have become part of a much wider international network of illicit finance and illegal trade that has become central to Russian foreign policy (Lewis & Prelec, 2023). Activities such as the illicit export of Ukrainian grain to Syria link the occupied territories into a much wider network of illicit trade and sanctions evasion in the Black Sea region that is slowly becoming institutionalised.

Fourth, many seizures of business and property under Russia's occupation may constitute war crimes. The Geneva convention and the Hague conventions both list plunder as a war crime. Even if Ukraine can win back control of these territories by military means, these economic crimes will form part of any reckoning with Russia in the future and should be part of any ICC – or other international – investigation.

Fifth, economic activities under occupation raise complex questions about collaboration and justice that will need to be addressed if Ukraine is to reintegrate these territories successfully. Ukrainian civil society has led the discussion of potential amendments to the current laws that would help this process. International experience could prove useful in supporting workable solutions that meet the needs of justice but also aim to unite post-war Ukrainian society.

The Ukrainian response to these property crimes and economic activities has often relied primarily on a rapid liberation of the territories through means. According to presidential adviser Mihailo Podolyak, questions about Ukrainian assets will be decided on the battlefield: 'All seized territories seized by Russia will be liberated by a counter-offensive of the Armed Forces of Ukraine' (Myasishchev, 2022). However, with the military situation uncertain, in the interim period, Ukraine and its international partners should also develop a stronger political-diplomatic platform to raise the costs of Russian occupation, including more comprehensive international sanctions against those profiting from the occupation.

There should be more attention paid to these economic crimes internationally – with clear warnings for Russian business about the consequences under international law of seizing Ukrainian businesses or investing in the occupied territories. Although sanctions regimes have targeted some local officials in occupation structures, the approach has not always been systematic. Many leading officials and businesspeople who actively enabled the occupation were not sanctioned. Clear criteria for imposing sanctions on those serving in occupation regimes may serve as a potential deterrent for some candidates.

More international monitoring of the situation in the occupied territories will also assist Ukraine in eventual reintegration and reconstruction of these territories, including addressing complex legal issues that will emerge in the aftermath of occupation. Economic activity under occupation raises multiple complex legal cases that will need to be addressed to enable a successful reconstruction programme that also restores and respects property rights. Developing a robust, evidence-based public database of reported business seizures and potential economic crimes in the occupied territories may help to clarify the process of business restitution in the aftermath of the war. It may also serve as the basis for eventual prosecution of economic crimes in the occupied territories and provide accessible evidence for international sanctions.

# References

АСF. (2022, December 21). Замминистра обороны ведет роскошную жизнь на деньги от строительства в Мариуполе — расследование ФБК. <a href="https://acf.international/ru/news/zamministra-oborony-vedet-roskoshnuyu">https://acf.international/ru/news/zamministra-oborony-vedet-roskoshnuyu</a>

Ageeva, O. (2022, October 7). Расходы на восстановление Донбасса в российском бюджете могли скрыть под формулировкой «специальный инфраструктурный проект». *RTVI*. <a href="https://rtvi.com/stories/rashody-na-vosstanovlenie-donbassa-v-rossijskom-byudzhete-mogli-zashifrovat-kak-speczialnyj-infrastrukturnyj-proekt/">https://rtvi.com/stories/rashody-na-vosstanovlenie-donbassa-v-rossijskom-byudzhete-mogli-zashifrovat-kak-speczialnyj-infrastrukturnyj-proekt/</a>

Andreeva, A. (2022, December 17). Чиновница из Херсонской области Губарева будет работать в Москве. Ранее СМИ писали о ее аресте. *Gazeta.ru*. <a href="https://www.gazeta.ru/politics/2022/12/17/15957727.shtml">https://www.gazeta.ru/politics/2022/12/17/15957727.shtml</a>

AP. (2022, December 22). Russia scrubs Mariupol's Ukraine identity, builds on death. *AP News.* <a href="https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-war-erasing-mariupol-499dceae43ed77f2ebfe750ea99b9ad9">https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-war-erasing-mariupol-499dceae43ed77f2ebfe750ea99b9ad9</a>

Arutunyan, A. (2022). Hybrid warriors: Proxies, freelancers and Moscow's struggle for Ukraine. Hurst.

Arutunyan, A. & Galeotti, M. (2022). *Crime and the Donbas Conflict 2014-2022.* Global Initiative on Transnational Organized Crime. <a href="https://globalinitiative.net/analysis/donbas-conflict-crime/">https://globalinitiative.net/analysis/donbas-conflict-crime/</a>

BBC News. (2022, July 21). Russia 'looting' steel bound for Europe and UK, says Metinvest boss. *BBC News*. <a href="https://www.bbc.com/news/business-62252704">https://www.bbc.com/news/business-62252704</a>

Biesecker, M., El Deeb, S. & Dupuy, B. (2022, October 3). Russia smuggling Ukrainian grain to help pay for Putin's war. *AP News*. <a href="https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-putin-business-lebanon-syria-87c3b6fea3f4c326003123b21aa78099">https://apnews.com/article/russia-ukraine-putin-business-lebanon-syria-87c3b6fea3f4c326003123b21aa78099</a>

Bloomberg. (2023, May 9). Torture and deportations said to be part of Putin's plan in occupied areas. <a href="https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-05-09/torture-and-deportations-said-to-be-part-of-putin-s-plan-in-occupied-areas">https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-05-09/torture-and-deportations-said-to-be-part-of-putin-s-plan-in-occupied-areas</a>

Boiko, A. (2022, October 25). Российский бизнес получит в управление брошенные в новых регионах компании. *Vedomosti*. <a href="https://www.vedomosti.ru/economics/articles/2022/10/26/947345-biznes-poluchit-broshennie-v-novih-regionah-kompanii">https://www.vedomosti.ru/economics/articles/2022/10/26/947345-biznes-poluchit-broshennie-v-novih-regionah-kompanii</a>

Burgis, T. (2023, April 27). UK company set up in name of top Putin official in Ukraine. *The Guardian*. <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/apr/27/volodymyr-saldo-uk-company-set-up-in-name-of-top-putin-official-in-ukraine">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/apr/27/volodymyr-saldo-uk-company-set-up-in-name-of-top-putin-official-in-ukraine</a>

Central Bank of Russia. (2023). Информация о подразделениях ПАО "Промсвязьбанк". <a href="https://www.cbr.ru/finorg/foinfo/branches/?id=1315037839212">https://www.cbr.ru/finorg/foinfo/branches/?id=1315037839212</a>

Centre for Journalistic Investigations. (2023, January 16). В Мелитополе на отжатом заводе будут производить минометы для российской армии. <a href="https://investigator.org.ua/news-2/250733/">https://investigator.org.ua/news-2/250733/</a>

Centre for Journalistic Investigations. (2023, January 25). Як Балицький «віджав» для пітерських завод у Мелітополі. <a href="http://investigator.org.ua/ua/topics-video/251004/">http://investigator.org.ua/ua/topics-video/251004/</a>

Chiknaeva, V. (2023, June 28). «Война же не будет идти вечно». Кто и зачем покупает недвижимость в оккупированном Мариуполе. *Bumaga*. <a href="http://paperpaper.io/vojna-zhe-ne-budet-idti-vechno-kto-i-za/">http://paperpaper.io/vojna-zhe-ne-budet-idti-vechno-kto-i-za/</a>

Churmanova, K. & Goryanov, A. (2023, February 13). Завод в Мариуполе и магазины ОВІ. Как бизнесмен, близкий к Рамзану Кадырову, получает иностранный бизнес во время войны. ВВС News, Russian Service. <a href="https://www.bbc.com/russian/features-64599582">https://www.bbc.com/russian/features-64599582</a>

Coynash, H. (2023). Mariupol residents whose apartments Russia bombed left homeless as new buildings sold to Russians. Kharkiv Human Rights Protection Group. <a href="https://khpg.org/en/1608812779">https://khpg.org/en/1608812779</a>

Criminal Code. (2023). Ukrainian Criminal Code. Article 111. <a href="https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2341-14#n3862">https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2341-14#n3862</a>

Davlyatchin, I. (2023, June 22). Люди гибли за металл. Кто и как вывозит имущество украинских предприятий из оккупированного Мариуполя. *Poligon*. <a href="https://www.poligonmedia.net/lyudi-gibli-zametall/">https://www.poligonmedia.net/lyudi-gibli-zametall/</a>

De Vega, L. (2023, March 6). Mayor of Mariupol Vadym Boychenko: We should have done more. We didn't ask Kyiv for help. *El Pais English*. <a href="https://english.elpais.com/international/2023-03-06/mayor-of-mariupol-vadym-boychenko-we-should-have-done-more-we-didnt-ask-kyiv-for-help.html">https://english.elpais.com/international/2023-03-06/mayor-of-mariupol-vadym-boychenko-we-should-have-done-more-we-didnt-ask-kyiv-for-help.html</a>

EGRYuL (2023). Edinnyi gosudarstvennyi reestr yuridicheskikh [Single State Register of Legal Entities]. Egrul.nalog.ru

Ekonomichna pravda. (2022, May 6). Украв, вивіз, у Москву. Як окупанти намагаються продати крадене українське зерно іншим країнам.

https://www.epravda.com.ua/publications/2022/05/6/686713/

Federal Tax Service. (2022, December 5). Завершился Перенос в ЕГРЮЛ Сведений о Компаниях Из Реестров ЛНР, ДНР, Запорожской и Херсонской Областей. <a href="https://www.nalog.gov.ru/rn77/news/activities\_fts/12928780/">https://www.nalog.gov.ru/rn77/news/activities\_fts/12928780/</a>

Fedorchenko, A. (2022, June 30). Промсвязьбанк начал работу в Херсонской и Запорожской областях. *Izvestiya.* <a href="https://iz.ru/1357849/2022-06-30/promsviazbank-nachal-rabotu-v-khersonskoi-i-zaporozhskoi-oblastiakh">https://iz.ru/1357849/2022-06-30/promsviazbank-nachal-rabotu-v-khersonskoi-i-zaporozhskoi-oblastiakh</a>

Fontanka. (2022, August 10). Платят вдвое больше. На стройку в Мариуполь нанимают вахтовиков из Петербурга. <a href="https://www.fontanka.ru/2022/08/10/71557157/">https://www.fontanka.ru/2022/08/10/71557157/</a>

Fylyppov, O., & Lister, T. (2022, May 1). Russians plunder \$5M farm vehicles from Ukraine—To find they've been remotely disabled. *CNN*. <a href="https://www.cnn.com/2022/05/01/europe/russia-farm-vehicles-ukraine-disabled-melitopol-intl/index.html">https://www.cnn.com/2022/05/01/europe/russia-farm-vehicles-ukraine-disabled-melitopol-intl/index.html</a>

Gamov, A. (2022, December 11). Русский Мариуполь восстает из руин: Что происходит сейчас в городе. Komsomolskaya pravda. https://www.kp.ru/daily/27482.5/4690881/

Garner, B. A. (1979). Black's Law Dictionary. (5th ed.). West Publishing.

Gerasimenko, O. (2023, April 21). "За деньгами туда ехать нельзя. Судьба накажет". Кто и зачем едет работать в захваченные города Украины. *BBC News Russian Service*. https://www.bbc.com/russian/features-65337457

Kostyukevich, D. & A. Lukin. (2023, May 30). John Greaves, или что на Золотой Ниве показал прогрессивный бердянский завод? *GlavPahar*. <a href="https://glavpahar.ru/news/john-greaves-ili-chto-na-zolotoy-nive-pokazal-progressivnyy-zaporozhskiy-zavod">https://glavpahar.ru/news/john-greaves-ili-chto-na-zolotoy-nive-pokazal-progressivnyy-zaporozhskiy-zavod</a>

HRW. (2023, April 13). Ukraine: Russian torture center in Kherson. *Human Rights Watch*. <a href="https://www.hrw.org/news/2023/04/13/ukraine-russian-torture-center-kherson">https://www.hrw.org/news/2023/04/13/ukraine-russian-torture-center-kherson</a>

Institut stran SNG. (dir. 2023). Выступление Константина Затулина На Форсайт-Форуме «Какая Украина Нам Нужна?». [Video]. YouTube. <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q2lCSMrWZ8k">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q2lCSMrWZ8k</a>

Intelligence Online. (2023, July 25). Kherson clan a driving force behind Danone Russia takeover. <a href="https://www.intelligenceonline.com/international-dealmaking/2023/07/25/kherson-clan-a-driving-force-behind-danone-russia-takeover,110006915-art">https://www.intelligenceonline.com/international-dealmaking/2023/07/25/kherson-clan-a-driving-force-behind-danone-russia-takeover,110006915-art</a>

Inter-agency Commission. (2022). *Protocol No. 2.* Myrotvorets. <a href="https://cdn.myrotvorets.center/m/criminals/02/65/5d/komisia.a4794e.pdf">https://cdn.myrotvorets.center/m/criminals/02/65/5d/komisia.a4794e.pdf</a>

Isakova, T. (2023, May 24). Новые территории обрастают связью. *Kommersant*. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/6001375">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/6001375</a>

IStories (2023, 1 February). How Putin's Friends "Bought Out" Occupied Crimea. <a href="https://istories.media/en/stories/2023/02/01/how-putins-friends-bought-out-occupied-crimea/">https://istories.media/en/stories/2023/02/01/how-putins-friends-bought-out-occupied-crimea/</a>

Ivanova, P., Cook, C. & Pitel, L. (2022, October 30). How Russia secretly takes grain from occupied Ukraine. *Financial Times*. https://www.ft.com/content/89b06fc0-91ad-456f-aa58-71673f43067b

Kadyrov, R. (2023, August 9). Post. Telegram. https://t.me/RKadyrov\_95/3809

Kassoti, E. & Duval, A. (2020). *The legality of economic activities in occupied territories: International, EU law and business and human rights perspective*. Routledge.

Katrichenko, T. (2022, August 10). Ненужная привилегия. Как Россия заставляет получать паспорта на оккупированных территориях. Fokus. <a href="https://focus.ua/ukraine/524988-kak-rossiya-zastavlyaet-poluchat-pasporta-na-okkupirovannyh-territoriyah">https://focus.ua/ukraine/524988-kak-rossiya-zastavlyaet-poluchat-pasporta-na-okkupirovannyh-territoriyah</a>

Kherson 'Administration'. (2023, April 15). Администрация Херсонской Области - ЦМРБанк. Telegram. <a href="https://t.me/VGA\_Kherson/8643">https://t.me/VGA\_Kherson/8643</a>

Kochkina, Y. (2023, April 19). Банки в Донбассе: кому доверить деньги. *Ura News.* https://ura.news/articles/1036286620

Kommersant. (2022a, June 17). Премьер ДНР заявил, что Россия вложит в экономику республики 2 трлн руб. за два года. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5420993">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5420993</a>

——. (2022b, October 5). Руководил пивзаводом и был под санкциями РФ: чем известен глава Запорожья Евгений Балицкий. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5594938">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5594938</a>

———. (2022с, December 13). TACC: вице-губернатор Херсонской области Губарева находится под домашним арестом. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5720625">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5720625</a>

Korolev, N. & Yurasova, Y. (2023, March 13). «Миранда-медиа» раскидывает сети. *Kommersant*. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5873563">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5873563</a>

Korolev, P. (2023, June 28). "Миранда-медиа" сдала Крым на месяц. *Comnews.* <a href="https://www.comnews.ru/content/227072/2023-06-28/2023-w26/miranda-media-sdala-krym-mesyac">https://www.comnews.ru/content/227072/2023-06-28/2023-w26/miranda-media-sdala-krym-mesyac</a>

Koroleva, Y. (2023, January 12). «Мы думали, что надо продержаться несколько недель»: CEO HD-group Борис Шестопалов о том, как предприятия пережили оккупацию. *The Page*. <a href="https://thepage.ua/business/kak-zavody-hd-group-perezhili-okkupaciyu">https://thepage.ua/business/kak-zavody-hd-group-perezhili-okkupaciyu</a>

Korrespondent.net. (2022, November 9). ЗЖРК продолжает поддерживать работников, несмотря на захват предприятия россиянами. <a href="https://korrespondent.net/business/companies/4533604-zzhrk-prodolzhaet-podderzhyvat-rabotnykov-nesmotria-na-zakhvat-predpryiatyia-rossyianamy">https://korrespondent.net/business/companies/4533604-zzhrk-prodolzhaet-podderzhyvat-rabotnykov-nesmotria-na-zakhvat-predpryiatyia-rossyianamy</a>

Koshiw, I. (2023, March 2). Kherson torture centres were planned by Russian state, say lawyers. *The Guardian*. <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/mar/02/kherson-torture-centres-were-planned-by-russian-state-say-lawyers">https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/mar/02/kherson-torture-centres-were-planned-by-russian-state-say-lawyers</a>

Kostyrev, A. & Savitskaya, A. (2023, April 12). Аграрии снаряжают магазины. *Kommersant*. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5927146">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5927146</a>

Kremlin.ru. (2023a, April 10). Встреча с врио главы ДНР Денисом Пушилиным. <a href="http://kremlin.ru/events/president/news/70879">http://kremlin.ru/events/president/news/70879</a>

———. (2023b, April 10). Заседание Совета Безопасности. <a href="http://kremlin.ru/events/president/news/70870">http://kremlin.ru/events/president/news/70870</a>

Krymtelecom. (2022, October 25). «Крымтелеком» сменил Генерального Директора. <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20230206025356/https://ktkru.ru/o kompanii/novosti/krimtelekom smenil generalnogo direktora">https://web.archive.org/web/20230206025356/https://ktkru.ru/o kompanii/novosti/krimtelekom smenil generalnogo direktora</a>

KSE Agrocenter. (2023). *Agricultural war damages, losses, and needs review.* Kyiv School of Economics Center for Food and Land Use Research (KSE Agrocenter). <a href="https://kse.ua/agricultural-war-damages-review/">https://kse.ua/agricultural-war-damages-review/</a>

Kurasheva, A., Ustinova, A. & Gavriliuk, S. (2022, December 13). Абоненты мобильных операторов «большой четверки» смогут дозвониться до новых регионов. *Vedemosti*. <a href="https://www.vedomosti.ru/technology/articles/2022/12/13/954954-abonenti-mobilnih-operatorov-smogut-dozvonitsya-do-novih-regionov">https://www.vedomosti.ru/technology/articles/2022/12/13/954954-abonenti-mobilnih-operatorov-smogut-dozvonitsya-do-novih-regionov</a>

Lewis, D. & Prelec, T. (2022). *New Dynamics in Illicit Finance and Russian Foreign Policy*. SOC ACE Research Paper No 17. University of Birmingham.

Lieblich, E. & Benvenisti, E. (2022.) Occupation in International Law. Oxford University Press.

LIGA. (2022, July 27). Станете Мелітополем або Маріуполем. Як росіяни нищать промисловий флагман України. <a href="https://biz.liga.net/ua/ekonomika/all/article/prishli-v-dneprorudnyy-grabit-jizn-i-bol-ukrainskogo-promyshlennogo-giganta-v-okkupatsii">https://biz.liga.net/ua/ekonomika/all/article/prishli-v-dneprorudnyy-grabit-jizn-i-bol-ukrainskogo-promyshlennogo-giganta-v-okkupatsii</a>

Litvin, A. (2022, May 12). Оккупанты назначили "'губернатора Запорожской области'": у семьи предателя есть бизнес в Киеве. *Obozrevatel News*.

 $\frac{https://news.obozrevatel.com/economics/economy/okkupantyi-naznachili-gubernatora-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-u-semi-predatelya-est-biznes-v-kieve.htm$ 

Lizan, I. (2022, September 29). От Запорожского к Днепрорудненскому: История Грабежа и Перезапуска Уникального Железорудного Комбината. *Ukraina.Ru.* <a href="https://ukraina.ru/20220929/1039155802.html">https://ukraina.ru/20220929/1039155802.html</a>

MacDonald, A. & Pyrozhok, O. (2022, December 6). Russian oligarch seizes 400,000 acres of Ukrainian farmland, owners say. *Wall Street Journal*. <a href="https://www.wsj.com/articles/russian-oligarch-seizes-400-000-acres-of-ukrainian-farmland-owners-say-11670338956">https://www.wsj.com/articles/russian-oligarch-seizes-400-000-acres-of-ukrainian-farmland-owners-say-11670338956</a>

Mariupol News. (2023 - Mar 31). Компания «Р-Строй» начала восстановительные работы в МГУ. https://mariupol-news.ru/society/2023/03/31/36492.html

Meduza. (2022a, May 25). «Новые власти» Запорожской области заявили о введении рубля и стремлении войти в состав РФ. Об этом же говорили в Херсонской области. <a href="https://meduza.io/news/2022/05/25/novye-vlasti-zaporozhskoy-oblasti-zayavili-o-vvedenii-rublya-i-stremlenii-voyti-v-sostav-rf-ob-etom-zhe-govorili-v-hersonskoy-oblasti">https://meduza.io/news/2022/05/25/novye-vlasti-zaporozhskoy-oblasti-zayavili-o-vvedenii-rublya-i-stremlenii-voyti-v-sostav-rf-ob-etom-zhe-govorili-v-hersonskoy-oblasti</a>

———. (2022b, June 9). Губернатор Петербурга пообещал восстановить Драмтеатр в Мариуполе. <a href="https://meduza.io/news/2022/06/09/gubernator-peterburga-poobeschal-vosstanovit-dramteatr-v-mariupole">https://meduza.io/news/2022/06/09/gubernator-peterburga-poobeschal-vosstanovit-dramteatr-v-mariupole</a>

Melitopol News. (2023, February 13). Мелитопольский завод автотракторных запчастей продолжает наращивать объемы производства. <a href="https://melitopol-news.ru/economy/2023/02/13/25016.html">https://melitopol-news.ru/economy/2023/02/13/25016.html</a>

Mikhailov, V. (2023, 29 July). Российские СМИ сообщают об "активно отстраивающемся Мариуполе". Можно ли верить этим репортажам? Рассказывает глава "Мариупольского ТВ". Current Time. <a href="https://www.currenttime.tv/a/what-is-happening-in-occupied-mariupol/32518445.html">https://www.currenttime.tv/a/what-is-happening-in-occupied-mariupol/32518445.html</a>

Miller, M. E. & Schmidt, S. (2022, November 22). In Kherson City, sympathies for Russia complicate reintegration into Ukraine. *Washington Post*.

 $\frac{https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2022/11/22/kherson-city-sympathies-russia-complicate-reintegration-into-ukraine/$ 

Minstroi RF. (2023, 12 May). Замминистра строительства и ЖКХ РФ Валерий Леонов рассказал о восстановительных работах в новых регионах. <a href="https://minstroyrf.gov.ru/press/zamministra-stroitelstva-i-zhkkh-rf-valeriy-leonov-rasskazal-o-vosstanovitelnykh-rabotakh-v-novykh-r/">https://minstroyrf.gov.ru/press/zamministra-stroitelstva-i-zhkkh-rf-valeriy-leonov-rasskazal-o-vosstanovitelnykh-rabotakh-v-novykh-r/</a>

 $\label{lem:moscow} Moscow \ Times \ (2023, August 9). \ Chechnya's \ Grozny \ establishes \ 'Sister \ City' \ ties \ with \ occupied \ Mariupol. \\ \underline{www.themoscowtimes.com/2023/08/09/chechnyas-grozny-establishes-sister-city-ties-with-occupied-mariupol-a82096}$ 

Myasishchev, A. (2022, November 4). Ограбление века. РФ подбирает ставленников для захваченных компаний. Масштаб и последствия. *Liga Biznes*. <a href="https://biz.liga.net/ekonomika/all/article/ograblenie-veka-rossiya-gotovit-stavlennikov-dlya-zahvachennyh-kompaniy-chto-s-nimi-budet">https://biz.liga.net/ekonomika/all/article/ograblenie-veka-rossiya-gotovit-stavlennikov-dlya-zahvachennyh-kompaniy-chto-s-nimi-budet</a>

Novaya gazeta Evropa. (2023, March 24). Всё схвачено - Россия устроила передел собственности на оккупированных территориях. Как Украинские предприятия переходят в руки «новых собственников. <a href="https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2023/03/24/vse-skhvacheno">https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2023/03/24/vse-skhvacheno</a>

O'Loughlin, J., Toal, G. & Kolosov, V. (2017). Who identifies with the "Russian World"? Geopolitical attitudes in Southeastern Ukraine, Crimea, Abkhazia, South Ossetia, and Transnistria. *Eurasian Geography and Economics*, 57(6), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/15387216.2017.1295275

Panasenko, M. (2022, November 30). Як росіяни крадуть бізнес на окупованій Запоріжчині. Centre of Journalistic Investigations. <a href="http://investigator.org.ua/ua/publication/249235">http://investigator.org.ua/ua/publication/249235</a>

Pershii Zaporizki. (2022, November 10). На Окупованій Території Запорізької Області Росіяни Захопили Ще Три Заводи. <a href="http://lnews.zp.ua/na-okkupirovannoj-territorii-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-rossiyane-zahvatili-eshhe-tri-predpriyatiya/">http://lnews.zp.ua/na-okkupirovannoj-territorii-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-rossiyane-zahvatili-eshhe-tri-predpriyatiya/</a>

Pertsev, A. (2022, June 8). Вице-король Донбасса «Медуза» рассказывает, как Сергей Кириенко за время войны попал в «ближний круг» Владимира Путина, а теперь готовит присоединение Донбасса и «образ будущей России». *Meduza*. <a href="https://meduza.io/feature/2022/06/08/vitse-koroldonbassa">https://meduza.io/feature/2022/06/08/vitse-koroldonbassa</a>

Pevchikh, M. (2023, April 19). 4/22 Ivanov is the Head of Construction for the MoD. His job is to build everything from army barracks to this seriously weird military church dearly beloved by Putin. Now he's responsible for 'rebuilding' Mariupol, the city Putin has wiped off the face of the Earth and occupied. <a href="https://T.Co/BfNDxFuKjr">https://T.Co/BfNDxFuKjr</a>. [Tweet]. Twitter.

 $\underline{https://twitter.com/pevchikh/status/1648678825427886082}$ 

President RF. (2022). Указ Президента Российской Федерации От 05.10.2022 № 711. http://actual.pravo.gov.ru/text.html#pnum=0001202210050022

Proekt. (2020, October 22). Кадетское братство. <a href="https://www.proekt.media/guide/gospodryady-kompaniya-eks/">https://www.proekt.media/guide/gospodryady-kompaniya-eks/</a>

——. (2022, September 29). Российский оккупационный корпус. <a href="https://war-proekt.media/chinovniki-iz-rossii-v-ukraine/person/">https://war-proekt.media/chinovniki-iz-rossii-v-ukraine/person/</a>

Quinn, A. & de Sousa, A. (2022, December 3). Russia reaped \$1 billion of wheat in occupied Ukraine, NASA says. *Bloomberg*. <a href="https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-12-03/russia-reaped-1-billion-of-wheat-in-occupied-ukraine-nasa-says">https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-12-03/russia-reaped-1-billion-of-wheat-in-occupied-ukraine-nasa-says</a>

Radio Svoboda. (2023 - 24 July). Народному депутату Пономарьову повідомили про підозру в держзраді. <a href="https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/news-skhemy-ponomarov-pidozra-u-derzhzradi/32516377.html">https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/news-skhemy-ponomarov-pidozra-u-derzhzradi/32516377.html</a>

RBK. (2022, May 27). В Минстрое России создали спецдепартамент по восстановлению ЛНР и ДНР. <a href="https://www.rbc.ru/business/27/05/2022/6290f1ab9a79474c266aa6b7">https://www.rbc.ru/business/27/05/2022/6290f1ab9a79474c266aa6b7</a>

RBK. (2022, June 29). Регионы назвали источники финансирования шефской помощи Донбассу. <a href="https://www.rbc.ru/politics/29/06/2022/62b9b0019a7947318feb8b10">https://www.rbc.ru/politics/29/06/2022/62b9b0019a7947318feb8b10</a>

Reuters. (2022, December 30). Promsvyazbank buys SMP for Russia's second major banking tie-up in December. *Reuters*. <a href="https://www.reuters.com/markets/deals/russias-promsvyazbank-says-it-has-bought-smp-bank-2022-12-30/">https://www.reuters.com/markets/deals/russias-promsvyazbank-says-it-has-bought-smp-bank-2022-12-30/</a>

Reznikova, E. (2022, September 29). Путеводитель по российским оккупантам и украинским коллаборационистам. Proekt. <a href="https://www.proekt.media/guide/kto-rukovodit-okkupirovannymiterritoriyami-ukrainy/">https://www.proekt.media/guide/kto-rukovodit-okkupirovannymiterritoriyami-ukrainy/</a>

RF. (2023, June 2). Правительство утвердило распоряжение о создании предприятия «Железные дороги Новороссии». <a href="http://government.ru/news/48604/">http://government.ru/news/48604/</a>

RFE/RL. (2023, April 23). In Ukraine's Mariupol, Doubts Grow Over Russia's Rush To Rebuild A Demolished City. Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty. <a href="https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-russia-mariupol-doubts-reconstruction/32375926.html">https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-russia-mariupol-doubts-reconstruction/32375926.html</a>

RIA Novosti. (2022a, May 27). ДНР национализирует предприятия, выделявшие деньги нацбатам. <a href="https://ria.ru/20220527/dnr-1791021589.html">https://ria.ru/20220527/dnr-1791021589.html</a>

- ——. (2022b, July 10.) В Мариуполе приступили к подготовке восстановления разрушенного моста. <a href="https://ria.ru/20220710/most-1801508245.html">https://ria.ru/20220710/most-1801508245.html</a>
- ———. (2022c, July 26). "Движемся дальше": у мелитопольских заводов началась вторая жизнь. https://ria.ru/20220726/zavody-1805084806.html
- ———. (2022d, August 1), "Сколько еще ждать?" О чем рассказали жители Мариуполя. <a href="https://ria.ru/20220801/donbass-1805874754.html">https://ria.ru/20220801/donbass-1805874754.html</a>
- ——. (2022e, October 5). Источник: силовики начали формировать главки на новых территориях России. 5 October 2022. <a href="https://ria.ru/20221005/siloviki-1821629168.html">https://ria.ru/20221005/siloviki-1821629168.html</a>
- ——. (2022f, November 2). В Запорожской области решили национализировать 47 объектов здравоохранения. <a href="https://ria.ru/20221102/zaporozhskaya-1828627796.html">https://ria.ru/20221102/zaporozhskaya-1828627796.html</a>
- ----. (2022g, December 27). Сотни предприятий в Запорожской области перешли под внешнее госуправление. <a href="https://ria.ru/20221227/koltsov-1841548120.html">https://ria.ru/20221227/koltsov-1841548120.html</a>
- ——. (2023a, January 7). Кириенко рассказал, каким будет новый город на Арабатской стрелке. <a href="https://ria.ru/20230107/kirienko-1843401760.html">https://ria.ru/20230107/kirienko-1843401760.html</a>
- ——. (2023b, February 10). Предприятия украинских олигархов в ДНР перешли в собственность России. <a href="https://ria.ru/20230210/natsionalizatsiya-1851259493.html">https://ria.ru/20230210/natsionalizatsiya-1851259493.html</a>
- ——. (2023c, February 11). Город на Арабатской Стрелке: Хуснуллин рассказал о новом этапе стройки. <a href="https://crimea.ria.ru/20230211/gorod-na-arabatskoy-strelke-khusnullin-rasskazal-o-novom-etape-stroyki-1126924185.html">https://crimea.ria.ru/20230211/gorod-na-arabatskoy-strelke-khusnullin-rasskazal-o-novom-etape-stroyki-1126924185.html</a>
- ——. (2023d, February 19). В Крыму под национализацию попали до 700 объектов. https://ria.ru/20230219/natsionalizatsiya-1852940782.html
- ———. (2023e, March 14). Аксенов выступил за национализацию объектов в новых регионах. <a href="https://ria.ru/20230314/natsionalizatsiva-1857734545.html">https://ria.ru/20230314/natsionalizatsiva-1857734545.html</a>
- ——. (2023f, March 31). Мариуполь и Бердянск включили в Реестр морских портов России. https://ria.ru/20230314/natsionalizatsiva-1857734545.html

RIA-Melitopol. (2022а, April 15). В Мелитополе Евгений Балицкий с оккупантами РФ обворовал завод более чем на 2 млн. евро. https://ria-

m.tv/news/283414/v melitopole evgeniy balitskiy lichno reshil otjat predpriyatie u konkurenta (foto video).html

——. (2022b, May 25). В Мелитополе оккупанты уже отжали мясокомбинат. <a href="https://riam.tv/news/287409/v">https://riam.tv/news/287409/v</a> melitopole okkupantyi uje otjali myasokombinat.html

Romanenko, A. (2023). Докотилися Маріупольці записали відеозвернення до окупантів. [Video]. YouTube. <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ixF6bNKs]RQ">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ixF6bNKs]RQ</a>

Romanova, O. (2022, November 14). С чувством глубокой осады - на фоне освобождения Херсона к долгой обороне готовится Мариуполь. Вот что об этом говорят местные жители. *Novaya Gazeta Evropa*. <a href="https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2022/11/14/s-chuvstvom-glubokoi-osady">https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2022/11/14/s-chuvstvom-glubokoi-osady</a>

Roshchina, O. (2022, December 30). Head of Investigative Committee of Russia claims 3,000 civilian victims in Mariupol, accuses Ukraine's military. *Ukrainska Pravda*. <a href="https://www.pravda.com.ua/eng/news/2022/12/30/7382990/">https://www.pravda.com.ua/eng/news/2022/12/30/7382990/</a>

Roskapstroi. (2023, May 15). ФАУ 'Роскапстрой'—Логистический центр г.Мариуполь. [Video]. Youtube. <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kUNFnuKiQ6g">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=kUNFnuKiQ6g</a>

Rosselkhoznadzor. (2023, August 23). Из морского порта Мариуполя под контролем специалистов Управления Россельхознадзора по ДНР отправлено 24 теплохода с зерном пшеницы. https://fsvps.gov.ru/ru/fsvps/news/220894.html

Saul, J., El Dahan, M. & Gebeily, M. (2022, December 19). Exclusive: Crimea showers Syria with wheat, Ukraine cries foul. *Reuters*. <a href="https://www.reuters.com/world/russian-annexed-crimea-showers-syria-with-wheat-ukraine-cries-foul-2022-12-19/">https://www.reuters.com/world/russian-annexed-crimea-showers-syria-with-wheat-ukraine-cries-foul-2022-12-19/</a>

Shevchenko. O. (2022, April 24). «Націоналізовані» огірки та помідори. Як в окупованому Енергодарі захоплюють агробізнес. Radio Svoboda. <a href="https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/novyny-pryazovya-enerhodar-zakhoplennya-ahrobiznesu/31821310.html">https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/novyny-pryazovya-enerhodar-zakhoplennya-ahrobiznesu/31821310.html</a>

Sherunkova, O. (2023, March 13). ПСБ расставляет отделения. *Kommersant*. <a href="https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5873538">https://www.kommersant.ru/doc/5873538</a>

Sinyuk. О. (2023, August 23). Як карали за колабораціонізм різні держави та чому цей термін досі неоднозначний навіть в Україні. Lb.ua.

https://lb.ua/blog/onysiia syniuk/571430 yak karali kolaboratsionizm rizni.html

Skobelev, V. & Yuzbekova, Y. (2022, May 27). Российский телефонный код: кто строит сети связи в Херсонской области и Запорожье. Forbes. <a href="https://www.forbes.ru/tekhnologii/467029-rossijskij-telefonnyj-kod-kto-stroit-seti-svazi-v-hersonskoj-oblasti-i-zaporoz-e">https://www.forbes.ru/tekhnologii/467029-rossijskij-telefonnyj-kod-kto-stroit-seti-svazi-v-hersonskoj-oblasti-i-zaporoz-e</a>

Skorkin, K. (2021, June 29). All change: Donbas Republics get new Russian business boss. *Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*. <a href="https://carnegiemoscow.org/commentary/84859">https://carnegiemoscow.org/commentary/84859</a>

——. (2022, October 22). Субъект российской оккупации. Как Кремль пытается управлять регионами, якобы включенными в состав России. *The Insider*. <a href="https://theins.info/politika/256178">https://theins.info/politika/256178</a>

Soldatov, A., & Borogan, I. (2022, July 29). The Good Engineer Zima. *The Moscow Times*. <a href="https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/07/29/the-good-engineer-zima-a78431">https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/07/29/the-good-engineer-zima-a78431</a>

Sotsfond. (2023, February 28). Меры поддержки Социального фонда в новых субъектах РФ. Sotsialnyi Fond Rossii [Social Fund of Russia]. <a href="https://sfr.gov.ru/grazhdanam/newregion/">https://sfr.gov.ru/grazhdanam/newregion/</a>

Sprotyv. (2022 - October 27). Окупанти віджимають заводи на ТОТ, які відмовляються запускатись на повну потужність. Centre of National Resistance. <a href="https://sprotyv.mod.gov.ua/okupanty-vidzhymayut-zavody-na-tot-yaki-vidmovlyayutsya-zapuskatys-na-povnu-potuzhnist/">https://sprotyv.mod.gov.ua/okupanty-vidzhymayut-zavody-na-tot-yaki-vidmovlyayutsya-zapuskatys-na-povnu-potuzhnist/</a>

Sprotyv. (2023, March 6). Росіяни вивозять руду з ТОТ - Центр національного спротиву. <a href="https://sprotyv.mod.gov.ua/2023/03/06/rosiyany-vyvozyat-rudu-z-tot/">https://sprotyv.mod.gov.ua/2023/03/06/rosiyany-vyvozyat-rudu-z-tot/</a>

State Duma. (2023, April 19). На территориях ДНР, ЛНР, Запорожской и Херсонской областей будет создана свободная экономическая зона. <a href="http://duma.gov.ru/news/56930/">http://duma.gov.ru/news/56930/</a>

Supreme Council. (2014, April 30). О вопросах управления собственностью Республики Крым. <a href="https://docs.cntd.ru/document/413901094">https://docs.cntd.ru/document/413901094</a>

Talanova, D., Teplyakov, S. & Asanova, A. (2023, March 25). How Russia seizes Ukrainian businesses on occupied territories - thousands of companies in Mariupol, Melitopol, and other occupied cities have been re-registered in Russia. *Novaya Gazeta Europe.* <a href="https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2023/03/25/how-russia-seizes-ukrainian-businesses-on-occupied-territories-en">https://novayagazeta.eu/articles/2023/03/25/how-russia-seizes-ukrainian-businesses-on-occupied-territories-en</a>

TASS. (2022, October 26). Три предприятия Запорожской области взяты под внешнее управление. TASS. <a href="https://tass.ru/ekonomika/16164309">https://tass.ru/ekonomika/16164309</a>

Tenisheva, A. (2022, July 8). Russian towns get Ukrainian "twins" in PR drive, political deflection tactic. *The Moscow Times*. <a href="https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/07/08/russian-towns-get-ukrainian-twins-in-pr-drive-political-deflection-tactic-a78195">https://www.themoscowtimes.com/2022/07/08/russian-towns-get-ukrainian-twins-in-pr-drive-political-deflection-tactic-a78195</a>

The Bell. (2022, June 7). Операторы выбирают между санкциями и Донбассом, Джонсон усидел в кресле, банкам разрешат сбросить замороженные активы. <a href="https://thebell.io/operatory-vybirayut-mezhdu-sanktsiyami-i-donbassom-dzhonson-usidel-v-kresle-bankam-razreshat-sbrosit-zamorozhennye-aktivy">https://thebell.io/operatory-vybirayut-mezhdu-sanktsiyami-i-donbassom-dzhonson-usidel-v-kresle-bankam-razreshat-sbrosit-zamorozhennye-aktivy</a>

The Insider. (2023, May 16). Scanner Project reveals oligarch Alexei Repik as real estate developer in occupied Mariupol and business owner in the US and Germany. <a href="https://theins.info/en/news/261773">https://theins.info/en/news/261773</a>

The Village. (2022, October 12). Эксклюзив The Village: План Мариуполя до 2035 года, разработанный в Москве. Публикуем документ целиком. *The Village*. <a href="https://www.the-village.ru/all-village/rassledovanie/master-plan-mariupolya">https://www.the-village.ru/all-village/rassledovanie/master-plan-mariupolya</a>

Tikhonov, A. & Gavrilyuk, S. (2023, May 31). С октября 2022 года российские паспорта на новых территориях получили почти 1,5 млн человек. *Vedemosti*. <a href="https://www.vedomosti.ru/society/articles/2023/05/31/977778-rossiiskie-pasporta-na-novihterritoriyah-poluchili-pochti-15-chelovek">https://www.vedomosti.ru/society/articles/2023/05/31/977778-rossiiskie-pasporta-na-novihterritoriyah-poluchili-pochti-15-chelovek</a>

Berdiansk pereklichka. (2023, March 3). [Post]. Telegram. <a href="https://t.me/berdiansk-me/925433">https://t.me/berdiansk-me/925433</a>

Tubridy, M. (2022, November 7). How St Petersburg is put in charge of rebuilding annexed Mariupol. *Russia Post*. <a href="https://russiapost.info/society/spb mariupol">https://russiapost.info/society/spb mariupol</a>

UK Government. (2023, May 19). UK sanctions target Russia's theft of Ukrainian grain, advanced military technology, and remaining revenue sources [Press release]. <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-sanctions-target-russias-theft-of-ukrainian-grain-advanced-military-technology-and-remaining-revenue-sources">https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-sanctions-target-russias-theft-of-ukrainian-grain-advanced-military-technology-and-remaining-revenue-sources</a>

Ukraina.ru. (2017, February 16). Запорожские рабочие выступили за торговлю с Россией. Ukraina.Ru. <a href="https://ukraina.ru/20170216/1018304997.html">https://ukraina.ru/20170216/1018304997.html</a>

Ukraine Crisis. (2022, December 2). We'll bake bread as long as we can. Even under bullets. Uacrisis.Org. <a href="https://uacrisis.org/en/pekty-hlib">https://uacrisis.org/en/pekty-hlib</a>

Ustinova, A. (2023, April 6). Крымский оператор связи «Миранда-медиа» вслед за ДНР заходит и в ЛНР. *Vedomosti*. <a href="https://www.vedomosti.ru/technology/articles/2023/04/06/969710-krimskii-operator-svyazi-miranda-media-vsled-za-dnr-zahodit-i-v-lnr">https://www.vedomosti.ru/technology/articles/2023/04/06/969710-krimskii-operator-svyazi-miranda-media-vsled-za-dnr-zahodit-i-v-lnr</a>

Vedomosti. (2023, June 5). Министр транспорта рассказал о планах ремонта дорог в новых регионах. <a href="https://www.vedomosti.ru/economics/news/2023/06/05/978703-ministr-transporta-o-planah-remonta-dorog">https://www.vedomosti.ru/economics/news/2023/06/05/978703-ministr-transporta-o-planah-remonta-dorog</a>

Volobuev, A. (2022, October 4). «Росатом» готовится взять на себя управление Запорожской АЭС. Vedomosti. https://www.vedomosti.ru/business/articles/2022/10/04/943871-rosatom-gotovitsva-vzvat

VSK. (2022, December 19). Новоселье в Мариуполе. <a href="https://vskmo.ru/2022/12/19/novosele-v-mariupole/">https://vskmo.ru/2022/12/19/novosele-v-mariupole/</a>

——. (2023, March 6). Сергей Шойгу оценил работу военных строителей в Донбассе. <a href="https://vskmo.ru/2023/03/06/sergej-shojgu-otsenil-rabotu-voennyh-stroitelej-v-donbasse/">https://vskmo.ru/2023/03/06/sergej-shojgu-otsenil-rabotu-voennyh-stroitelej-v-donbasse/</a>

Ward, C. & Krever, M. (2023, April 24). Svetlana Maniovich: Russia's Deputy Defense Minister Timur Ivanov is under sanctions. His ex-partner is still living the high life in Europe, investigation reveals. *CNN*. <a href="https://edition.cnn.com/2023/04/24/europe/russia-svetlana-maniovich-timur-ivanov-sanctions-intl/index.html">https://edition.cnn.com/2023/04/24/europe/russia-svetlana-maniovich-timur-ivanov-sanctions-intl/index.html</a>

Wille, B. (2022, September 1). "We had no choice": "Filtration" and the war crime of forcibly transferring Ukrainian civilians to Russia. Human Rights Watch. <a href="https://www.hrw.org/report/2022/09/01/we-had-no-choice/filtration-and-crime-forcibly-transferring-ukrainian-civilians">https://www.hrw.org/report/2022/09/01/we-had-no-choice/filtration-and-crime-forcibly-transferring-ukrainian-civilians</a>

Yaffa, J. (2022, May 23). A Ukrainian city under a violent new regime. *The New Yorker*. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2022/05/23/a-ukrainian-city-under-a-violent-new-regime

Yankovskii, A., Badyuk, A. (2023, March 3). Готовится ли армия РФ отступать из Херсонщины? Krym.Realii. <a href="https://ru.krymr.com/a/kherson-khersonskaya-oblast-otstupleniye-armii-rossii/32296591.html">https://ru.krymr.com/a/kherson-khersonskaya-oblast-otstupleniye-armii-rossii/32296591.html</a>

Yapparova, L. (2023, May 20). «Нас превращали в затравленных животных» Как устроены тюрьмы, в которых российские спецслужбы держат мирных украинцев, захваченных на оккупированных территориях. *Meduza*. <a href="https://meduza.io/feature/2023/05/26/nas-prevraschali-v-zatravlennyhzhivotnyh">https://meduza.io/feature/2023/05/26/nas-prevraschali-v-zatravlennyhzhivotnyh</a>

Zapgov. (2022, December 26). О создании Министерства имущественных и земельных отношений Военно-гражданской администрации Запорожской области 213-У. 'Ministry of Property and Land Rights', Zaporizhia oblast. <a href="https://mio.zapgov.ru/ministerstvo-o-ministerstve/o-sozdanii-ministerstva-imushhestvennyh-i-zemelnyh-otnoshenij-voenno-grazhdanskoj-administraczii-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-213-u/">https://mio.zapgov.ru/ministerstvo-o-ministerstve/o-sozdanii-ministerstva-imushhestvennyh-i-zemelnyh-otnoshenij-voenno-grazhdanskoj-administraczii-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-213-u/</a>

———. (2023, February 14). Военно-гражданская администрация Запорожской области информирует о выявлении объектов бесхозяйного имущества - Министерство имущественных и земельных отношений. <a href="https://mio.zapgov.ru/bez-rubriki/voenno-grazhdanskaya-administracziya-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-informiruet-o-vvvavlenii-obektov-beshozvajnogo-imushhestva-82/">https://mio.zapgov.ru/bez-rubriki/voenno-grazhdanskaya-administracziya-zaporozhskoj-oblasti-informiruet-o-vvvavlenii-obektov-beshozvajnogo-imushhestva-82/</a>

Zhegulev, I. (2018, August 8). Независимая республика, где все зависит от России Как Кремль развивает Южную Осетию — и как ему помогают ДНР и ЛНР. *Meduza*. <a href="https://meduza.io/feature/2018/08/08/nezavisimaya-respublika-gde-vse-zavisit-ot-rossii">https://meduza.io/feature/2018/08/08/nezavisimaya-respublika-gde-vse-zavisit-ot-rossii</a>

Zholobova, M. (2022, August 9). Стройка после расстрела. Vazhnye istorii. <a href="https://istories.media/investigations/2022/08/09/stroika-posle-rasstrela/">https://istories.media/investigations/2022/08/09/stroika-posle-rasstrela/</a>

ZMINA et al. (2023). Criminal Liability for Collaborationism: Analysis of Current Legislation, Practice of its Application, and Proposals for Amendments. NGO Human Rights Centre ZMINA, Coalition of human rights NGOs. <a href="https://zmina.ua/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/12/zvit zmina eng-1.pdf">https://zmina.ua/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/12/zvit zmina eng-1.pdf</a>

ZOV DNR. (2022, October 20). В Орджоникидзевском Районе Мариуполя достраивают десятиэтажный дом на пересечении улиц Гугеля и Пашковского. Lenta novostei DNR. <a href="https://dnr-news.ru/society/2022/10/20/141945.html">https://dnr-news.ru/society/2022/10/20/141945.html</a>

ZOV Mariupol. (2023, August 11). Первое судно трюмного типа доставило строительные материалы из порта Азов в Мариуполь. Lenta novostei Mariupolya. <a href="https://mariupol-news.ru/society/2023/08/11/53024.html">https://mariupol-news.ru/society/2023/08/11/53024.html</a>

ZOV Zaporizhia. (2023, February 7). Интернет «Медиана» прекращает свою деятельность в Мелитополе. Lenta novostei Zaporozhya. <a href="https://zp-news.ru/other/2023/02/07/85856.html">https://zp-news.ru/other/2023/02/07/85856.html</a>